ACTA UNIVERSITATIS AGRICULTURAE SUECIAE

VETERINARIA 10



Mastitis in Sows

Clinical, bacteriological and cytological examinations in assessing udder health during early lactation and at weaning

Arne Persson





Mastitis in sows Clinical, bacteriological and cytological examinations in assessing udder health during early lactation and at weaning

Arne Persson

Akademisk avhandling, som med tillstånd av veterinärmedicinska fakulteten vid SLU för avläggande av veterinärmedicine doktorsexamen, offentligen försvaras på engelska språket i Ettans föreläsningssal, Klinikcentrum, Uppsala, fredagen den 22 augusti, kl 9.15.

Av fakultetsnämnden utsedd opponent: Professor Lennart Bäckström, University of Wisconsin, School of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Medical Sciences, Madison, WI 53706, USA.

Abstract

Mastitis during the early lactation in sows is predominantly caused by *Escherichia coli*, and implicated in the agalactia post partum (APP). Chronic granulomatous mastitis (CGM) has a polybacterial etiology often diagnosed at time of weaning. *E. coli* mastitis in APP sows and the CGM in lactating sows lead to impaired udder health. The first study was designed to obtain more information about the potential influence of 2 late gestation feeding regimes (restricted vs standard) on health status of sows with reference to APP. The second study focused on teat injuries and palpable changes of the mammary glands and their potential impact on udder health at time of weaning. The third study comprised CGM sows that were examined before and after slaughter. In all three studies, results from thorough clinical examinations of the sows and their udders were confirmed by bacteriological and cytological analyses of milk amplified with analyses of pH during the early lactation period and histopathological examinations of mammary tissue specimens after weaning.

The incidence of APP was significantly lower (14.4%) in the restricted-fed compared with the standard-fed sows (26.6%). APP sows showed a significant increase in rectal temperature one day before parturition and an increase in number of stillborn piglets (0.4) compared with clinically healthy sows, indicating an establishment of the disease before partus.

Bacteriological examination of colostrum from APP sows and from clinically healthy sows, yielded growth of *E. coli* from one or several glands in 80% and 30% of the lactations, respectively. The growth of *E. coli* declined rapidly and was eliminated between days 3 and 8. Healthy sows with *E. coli* were designated as being subclinically infected. In colostrum, a substantial elevation of the total cell content (TCC) and its percentage of

polymorphonuclear leucocytes (PMNLs) was demonstrated in 49 (64%) out of 77 APP lactations and 15 (16%) out of 96 clinically healthy lactations. Udder symptoms of clinical mastitis were poorly correlated to *E. coli* mastitis (TCC> $10x10^6$).

Teat and udder skin injuries were numerically more frequent within the milkproducing glands of the udder. The prevalence of teat injuries subsided and 76% of the teat injuries were clinically normal at re-examination 7 days post weaning. The prevalence of palpable changes increased from first to second and subsequent lactations (15%, 30% and 60%).

CGM was confirmed by histopathological examination in 10 out of 11 sows. A polybacterial flora predominated and comprised of *S. aureus*, *A. pyogenes*, *F. necrophorum*, *P. anaerobicus*, *P. granulosum* and *Prevotella* spp. As an appendant result, a 'new' bacteria belonging to the genus *Actinomyces* (Actinomyces - EF group 78, CCUG 37626) was isolated from tissue collected from an additional sow with CGM.

Key words: agalactia post partum, feeding, Escherichia coli mastitis, colostrum, milk, cytology, bacteriology, pH, weaning, teat injuries, chronic granulomatous mastitis

Distribution: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology S-750 07 UPPSALA, Sweden

Uppsala 1997 ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-5241-4

Mastitis in Sows

Clinical, bacteriological and cytological examinations in assessing udder health during early lactation and at weaning

Arne Persson

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 1997

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Veterinaria 10

ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-5241-4 © 1997 Arne Persson, Uppsala



To my family Maria Martin and Kristina

Abstract

Persson, Arne. 1997. Mastitis in sows. Clinical, bacteriological and cytological examinations in assessing udder health during early lactation and at weaning. Doctor's dissertation. ISSN 1401-6257, ISBN 91-576-5241-4

Mastitis during the early lactation in sows is predominantly caused by *Escherichia coli*, and implicated in the agalactia post partum (APP). Chronic granulomatous mastitis (CGM) has a polybacterial etiology often diagnosed at time of weaning. *E. coli* mastitis in APP sows and the CGM in lactating sows lead to impaired udder health. The first study was designed to obtain more information about the potential influence of 2 late gestation feeding regimes (restricted vs standard) on health status of sows with reference to APP. The second study focused on teat injuries and palpable changes of the mammary glands and their potential impact on udder health at time of weaning. The third study comprised CGM sows that were examined before and after slaughter. In all three studies, results from thorough clinical examinations of the sows and their udders were confirmed by bacteriological and cytological analyses of milk amplified with analyses of pH during the early lactation period and histopathological examinations of mammary tissue specimens after weaning.

The incidence of APP was significantly lower (14.4%) in the restricted-fed compared with the standard-fed sows (26.6%). APP sows showed a significant increase in rectal temperature one day before parturition and an increase in number of stillborn piglets (0.4) compared with clinically healthy sows, indicating an establishment of the disease before partus.

Bacteriological examination of colostrum from APP sows and from clinically healthy sows, yielded growth of *E. coli* from one or several glands in 80% and 30% of the lactations, respectively. The growth of *E. coli* declined rapidly and was eliminated between days 3 and 8. Healthy sows with *E. coli* were designated as being subclinically infected. In colostrum, a substantial elevation of the total cell content (TCC) and its percentage of polymorphonuclear leucocytes (PMNLs) was demonstrated in 49 (64%) out of 77 APP lactations and 15 (16%) out of 96 clinically healthy lactations. Udder symptoms of clinical mastitis were poorly correlated to *E. coli* mastitis (TCC>10x10⁶).

Teat and udder skin injuries were numerically more frequent within the milk-producing glands of the udder. The prevalence of teat injuries subsided and 76% of the teat injuries were clinically normal at re-examination 7 days post weaning. The prevalence of palpable changes increased from first to second and subsequent lactations (15%, 30% and 60%).

CGM was confirmed by histopathological examination in 10 out of 11 sows. A polybacterial flora predominated and comprised of *S. aureus*, *A. pyogenes*, *F. necrophorum*, *P. anaerobicus*, *P. granulosum* and *Prevotella* spp. As an appendant result, a 'new' bacteria belonging to the genus *Actinomyces* (Actinomyces - EF group 78, CCUG 37626) was isolated from tissue collected from an additional sow with CGM.

Key words: agalactia post partum, feeding, *Escherichia coli* mastitis, colostrum, milk, cytology, bacteriology, pH, weaning, teat injuries, chronic granulomatous mastitis

Author's address: Arne Persson, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, SLU, Box 7039, S-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden.

Contents

Introduction, 11

Background, 11
The mammary glands and teats, lactation and sucking behaviour, 12
Involution of the mammary gland, 13
Cytology and pH in colostrum and milk, 13
Agalactia post partum (APP), 15
Clinical symptoms, 15
Bacteriology, pathogenesis and milk cell content, 15
Influence of feeding, 16
Teat injuries and chronic mastitis, 17

Aims of the study, 20

Material and methods, 21

Animals and locations, 21 Rearing systems, 21 Diets and feeding regimes, 22 Clinical examination and collection of colostrum and milk, 22 Bacteriological examination, 23 Cytology, 25 pH, 25 Histopathological examination, 25 Statistical analyses, 26

Results, 27

Udder and general health conditions at farrowing and during the early lactation period, 27

The effect of different feed allowances during late pregnancy on health status and performance of sows with special reference to APP (Paper I), 27

TCC, PMNLs and pH in bacteriologically negative colostrum and milk obtained from sows clinically healthy with or without individual mammary glands subclinically infected with E. coli or from sows suffering from APP (Papers II and III), 27

TCC, PMNLs and pH in colostrum and milk obtained from sows suffering from APP or clinically healthy but subclinically infected with E. coli (Paper III), 29

Relationship between clinical mastitis and results from bacteriological and cytological examinations, 30

Udder health at the time of weaning, 31

Frequency of teat injuries and abnormal mammary gland consistency at weaning (Paper IV), 31

Chronic granulomatous mastitis (CGM) in sows with reference to clinical findings, bacteriology and histopathology (Paper V), 33

Results from an additional study of CGM in 3 sows, 34

General discussion, 35

Early development and diagnosis of agalactia post partum (APP), 35 Factors influencing the cell content in bacteriologically negative colostrum and milk, 36 The effect of different feed allowances during late gestation on the occurrence of APP, 39 *Escherichia coli* mastitis - clinical, bacteriological and cytological aspects, 41 Mastitis at the time of weaning - predisposed by teat- and udder skin injuries? 43

Conclusions, 48

References, 51

Acknowledgements, 56

Appendix

Papers I-V

The present thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals I-V:

I. Persson, A., Pedersen, A-E., Göransson, L. & Kuhl, W., 1989. A long term study on the health status and performance of sows on different feed allowances during late pregnancy I. Clinical observations, with special reference to agalactia post partum.

II. Persson, A., Pedersen-Mörner, A. & Kuhl, W., 1996. A long term study on the health status and performance of sows on different feed allowances during late pregnancy II. The total cell content and its percentage of polymorphonuclear leucocytes in pathogen-free colostrum and milk collected from clinically healthy sows.

III. Persson, A., Pedersen-Mörner, A. & Kuhl, W., 1996. A long term study on the health status and performance of sows on different feed allowances during late pregnancy III. *Eschericha coli* and other bacteria, total cell content, polymorphonuclear leucocytes and pH in colostrum and milk during the first 3 weeks of lactation.

IV. Persson, A., 1997. Clinical assessment of udder health status of sows at time of weaning with special reference to bacteriology and cytology in milk. J. Vet. Med. A 44, 143-158.

V. Persson, A., Karlstam, E. & Jonsson P., 1997. Chronic granulomatous mastitis in sows with special reference to bacteriology, cytology and histopathology. Manuscript.

Offprints are published by kind permission of the journals concerned.

Introduction

Background

Maintenance of a proper health status of the sow in general and of udder health in particular is necessary to enable her to produce a sufficient amount of milk throughout the lactation period. The mastitis implicated in the agalactia post partum (APP) syndrome often causes a transient lactation failure during the post partum period. The disease may also cause a partial or, in severe cases, total cessation of milk production, causing starvation and a subsequent increase in piglet mortality (Ringarp, 1960; Striegel & Kunesh, 1974; Jorsal, 1983). The incidence and importance of the APP syndrome have varied during the last 30-40 years. In a comprehensive field study carried out in south-west of Sweden, 1957-1958, Ringarp (1960) reported an incidence of 'agalactia toxaemica' of 3.7%. In a later Swedish study, the incidence was reported to vary from 5.5% in small herds to 10.3% in large herds (Bäckström, 1973). During the same period, the mastitismetritis-agalactia (MMA) syndrome was listed as the number one swine health problem in the USA (Striegel & Kunesh, 1974). In Sweden, the problem with the APP syndrome probably culminated during the 1970s, when the incidence of APP could exceed 50% in severely affected herds (Sandstedt et al., 1979). In Denmark, a survey over a 4-year period revealed that 9.6% of culled sows were dispatched because they had suffered from mastitis, metritis and/or agalactia (Svendsen et al., 1975). In more recent comprehensive field studies the incidence of APP was 6.9% in the USA (Bäckström et al., 1984), 9.5% in Denmark (Jorsal, 1983) and 17.5% in Norway (Lingaas & Rønningen, 1991).

During the remaining lactation, the competition between piglets might be one of several factors that damage the mammary glands and teats, predisposing to infectious disturbances during lactation or during the involution period post weaning. The pathological transformation of the mammary glands leads to a permanent decrease in lactation potential. The frequencies of teat- and udder skin injuries during the lactation period or at the time of weaning have only been studied to a limited extent (Svendsen et al., 1984; Edwards & Lightfoot, 1986; Bollwahn & Meermeier, 1989; Hultén et al., 1995). Teat wounds might be infected by ubiquitous bacteria and lead to inflammation, fibrosis and occlusion of the teat canals (Done, 1980). Further, the ubiguitous bacteria might also invade the mammary glands during the lactation period or at the time of weaning, causing chronic mastitis (Delgado & Jones, 1981; Bollwahn & Meermeier, 1989) with successively impaired udder health status and, as a consequence, predispose to malnutrition of the offspring (Englert et al., 1956). In an abattoir survey, the frequencies of mammary abscesses varied from 18.5% of nonlactating sows to 20.4% of lactating sows (Delgado & Jones, 1981). In a recent study (1995), Jonsson found that 2.6% of Swedish Landrace sows and 2.1% of Swedish Yorkshire sows were dispatched from hybrid-producing herds because of mammary abscesses. Veterinary practitioners claim that the problem is increasing in sow herds in Sweden (Kugelberg & Sjögren, 1994, pers. comm.).

The mammary glands and teats, lactation and sucking behaviour

The mammary glands of the sow consist of 2 thoracic pairs, 4 abdominal pairs and one inguinal pair suspended in two parallel rows along the ventral abdominal wall. The cylindrical mammary papillae (teats) are between 2 and 3.5 cm long, depending on whether the mammary glands are lactating or not. Each teat has two canals and orifices which terminate two separate cavity systems, one anterior and one posterior (Fig. 1). In exceptional cases, three teat canals are present, of which one often ends blindly at the base of the teat. The teat canal is 3 to 4 mm long and is not distinctly separated from the teat cisterna. The teat cisterna continue further without distinct demarcation into the gland cisterna (for complete and more detailed information, see Schummer et al., 1981).



Figure 1. Sagittal section through one mammary gland of the udder of a sow. The wavy black line separates a front and a rear segment. 1. teat canal; 2. teat sinus; 3. gland sinus; 4. lactiferous duct; 5. parenchyma of the gland.

The daily milk production varies as a function of litter size, which means that milk production increases parallel with an increase in litter size, although in a large litter each piglet receives less milk per day compared with piglets in a small litter (Salmon-Legagneur, 1965; cited Smith et al., 1992). The milk production reaches a peak during the third and fourth weeks of lactation (Allen & Lasley, 1960).

Milk ejection occurs in the sow every 45 min. with over 20% of the suckling periods ending as a failure (Ellendorff & Poulain, 1984). The nursing and suck-ling last for 2-3 min., while the actual flow of milk is confined to 10 or 20 seconds (for review, see Fraser, 1980). The piglets show a preference for the more anterior, teats with about 90% occupancy of teats in the first three pairs, declining to 30% at the seventh pair (Fraser & Thompson, 1991). Non-suckled glands and teats cease to produce milk already 1- 2 days after farrowing (Dellmeier & Friend, 1991).

Involution of the mammary gland

The involution of the mammary gland tissue is generally more rapid in sows than in cows (Schultz et al., 1977). According to Salomé Rahm et al. (1984), the involution is macroscopically characterized by a distension of the mammary glands which lasts for 24-48 hours post weaning (p.w). On day 4 p.w. it is not possible to obtain any secretion and the skin of the gland starts wrinkling. One week p.w., the mammary glands have been lifted up towards the abdominal wall. The involution of the glandular tissue has been histologically divided into 4 separate phases: a/ milk accumulation during the first 2-3 days, b/ breakdown and reconstruction changes on days 3-9, c/ slow reconstruction on days 9-28 and d/ resting phase from the 28th day.

Cytology and pH in colostrum and milk

The total cell content or the somatic cell content is a useful and reliable parameter monitoring udder health status in lactating cows. Also in sows the total cell content (TCC) per ml together with the percentage of polymorphonuclear leucocytes (PMNLs) in colostrum or milk have been demonstrated to reflect the health status of the mammary glands.

The levels of TCC and PMNLs in sow colostrum and sow milk have been estimated in a few studies (Table 1). In a study carried out by Wegmann (1985), milk samples were frequently collected throughout a lactation period of 30 days with the aim of obtaining information on the cell count as well as the percentage of granulocytes in colostrum and milk from normal as well as from mastitic mammary glands. In other studies, the samplings were more infrequent and (or) the numbers of sampled sows low. Evans et al. (1982) focused on cell morphology and the cell count levels were used as supporting information. In a recent study by Drendel (1991), the pH, the concentration of lysozyme and the conductivity in sow milk were related to the total cell count. When comparing the results of the cell counts from earlier investigations (Table 1), it is likely that the different objectives of the studies and the heterogeneous groups of sows have substantially contributed to the variation in milk cell content.

The physical properties of colostrum and milk in sows might be monitored by, e.g. pH, as in cows. During the first three days post partum, the pH was measured to values ranging from 6.4 - 6.5 (Ringarp, 1960), 6.2 - 6.9 (average c. 6.5; Plonait, 1961) or 6.0 - 6.9 (average 6.6; Martin et al., 1967) in normal lactating sows. The remaining lactation period is characterized by a gradual increase in pH, reaching 7.0 at day 40 (Plonait, 1961). The result from a recent study by Drendel (1991), where the pH was measured during a lactation period of 35 days, revealed pH-levels similar to those described above.

Analyses of the cell content and pH in colostrum and milk might be useful tools in experimental studies to monitor the udder health status in sows during different phases of the lactation. The use of TCC, PMNLs and pH as indicators of mastitic reactions requires detailed knowledge of the normal cell content as well as the pH in colostrum and milk. This could be achieved by analysing milk secretions from phases of lactation, including the time of weaning.

[TCC] (x10 ⁻⁶) and the polymorphonuclear leucocytes [PMNLs] (% / absolute numbers ⁶) in colostrum	
Table 1. Studies on the total cell content [TCC] (x10 ⁻⁶) and	and milk from sows

Day of Referen	References	ces												
lactation	Evans et al.	t al. ¹	Weber and	pu	Wegmann	-	Schollenberger	nberger	Hurley ar	Hurley and Grieve	Magnusson	n	Drendel	
	1982		Ferguson ² 1982	n ² 1982	1985		et al. ^{1,3} 1986	1986	1988		et al. ⁵ 1991	1	1991	
	TCC	PMNL%	TCC	PMNL%	TCC	PMNL%	TCC	PMNL%	TCC	PMNL%	TCC	%TNMA	TCC	PMNL ⁶
0-1	10.0	71.7	0.57	80.7	0.3-0.7	<10	تے	C 12		55.5	9.0 (A)	58.0 (A)	1.88	06.0
2					0.5-0.9	<10	1.1	7.10			(J) I'C	(1) (100		
3		55.4	4.48	86.3	0.9-1.1	<10				30.3			2.42	1.13
4					1.7	<10								
5			6.31	86.0	0.9 0.5	<10 <10	¥.	50.9				,	2.93 2.47	1.41 1.12
7									0.25	25.6	4.5 (A)	13.9 (A)	:	
×			5 43	83 5	0.5	<10 <	20		()		2.4 (F)	(J) 6.07		
10	1.0	39.2	5.81	89.4	2									
= :					0.6	<10	<u>ک</u> 2.1	41.5						
12			5.88	91.3										·
14										11.7	4.8 (A) 5.2 (P)	18.4 (A) 7.6 (P)		
15		51.3	2.57	90.8	0.6	<10						2		
17			3.56	7.67										
18					1.3	<10		0.07						5
20		371	1+.0	0.45				V.C+						
21		1.20					_		0.75	13.9			2.65	1.34
22			2.32	90.8	1.2	<10	<u>`</u> ~		(max.)					
25	-				2.4	<10								
28							71.5	50.4		43.5	1.5 (A)		2.02	1.25
					4						4.2 (P)	14.2 (P)		
29 - 35					1.0	<10							2.45	0.96
1. PMNLs comprise only neutrophils. 2, with brackets 4 Min. (47) and may. (4	nprise on	ly neutrophils		Its only avail:	able from l	PVS-proc.	Mexico (Results only available from IPVS-proc., Mexico City, 1982. 3. Average TCC- and PMNL-values for each period, denoted 21) TCC within the largeion nericed of 28 d 5. Akheviations: A and P - america and motion mammer.	Average 1	CCC- and Pl	MNL-value	es for each p	eriod, den	oted
glands, respectively.	tively.				IC Iduation		C	UDICATALOIIS.			n posterior			

Agalactia post partum (APP)

Clinical symptoms

The 'classical' APP syndrome appears within the first 12-48 hours post partum and the clinical symptoms are predominated by elevated rectal temperature (>39.5°C) and unwillingness to eat and drink; the total impact of the disease leading to a lethargic general condition of the sow (Ringarp, 1960; Martin et al., 1967; Hermansson et al., 1978a). A crucial problem arises when establishing a threshold above which the rectal temperature indicates a disease condition. Another important observation is that the rectal temperature of sows increases at parturition, the rise being 0.7° C to 1.0° C (King et al., 1972; Hendrix et al., 1978; Elmore et al., 1979). Nevertheless, determination of the rectal temperature is of great importance since it provides us with objective clinical data. Observation of the rectal temperature prepartum might indicate early stages of the disease, preceding subsequent impaired clinical health of the sow post partum.

Although most diseased sows often are in lateral recumbency, sows with clinical signs of mastitis are in sternal recumbency in attempts to protect the udder (Hermansson et al., 1978a). Although the piglets try to massage the udder with their snouts the sow persists in her reluctance to nurse. The unwillingness of the sow to nurse her piglets, together with a decrease in milk production - hypogalactia - (Ross et al., 1975), rather rapidly results in the piglets becoming agitated. If the general condition of the sow does not become restored, the piglets lose weight. The sows affected by the APP syndrome will, on average, wean 0.4 - 0.5 piglets less than healthy sows (Hermansson et al., 1978a; Jorsal, 1983). The clinical symptoms of mastitis are characterized as swelling and hardening of one or more mammary glands which, in more severe cases, is combined with reddening and (or) soreness. The physiological swelling that occurs after farrowing might be difficult to distinguish from a pathological swelling caused by inflammation of the mammary glands. In a field study where agalactic sows were compared with healthy controls within the same herd, clinical examination of the udders of diseased sows revealed mastitis in 50% (Hermansson et al., 1978a).

Vaginal discharge recorded post partum seems to be as frequent in healthy sows as in sows affected with APP (Hermansson et al., 1978a). From a general point of view, metritis or endometritis has been considered as a minor etiological factor implicated in the disease syndrome (Ringarp, 1960; Martin et al., 1967; Nachreiner et al., 1971).

Bacteriology, pathogenesis and milk cell content

Gram-negative bacteria such as *Escherichia coli* (Ringarp, 1960; Martin et al., 1967; Armstrong et al., 1968; Thurman & Simon, 1970; Bertschinger et al., 1977; Middleton-Williams et al., 1977; Ross et al., 1981) and to some extent *Klebsiella* spp. (Lake & Jones, 1970; Done, 1975; Ross et al., 1975; Bertschinger at al., 1977) seem to be strongly implicated in the etiology causing mastitis in sows during the immediate post partum period. *E. coli* has been isolated from clinically normal as well as mastitic mammary glands (Ross et al., 1981). Wegmann (1985)

reported that the number of E. coli bacteria that had invaded the mammary glands declined in number, with a final elimination of the bacteria within 5 days post partum. The different serotypes of E. coli, all show a large heterogeneity (Armstrong et al., 1968; Bertschinger et al., 1977), which is in accordance with results from E. coli mastitis in cows (Eberhart et al., 1979; Eberhart, 1984).

Other bacteria such as *Staphylococcus* spp. and β -haemolytic streptococci have been isolated from tissue specimens of mammary glands, in most cases without causing any microscopic evidence of mastitis (Ross et al., 1981).

The hypogalactic, or in more severe cases agalactic, condition in sows seems to be mediated by the release of endotoxin from the gram-negative bacteria. These causes and effects have been indicated by clinical and haematological changes observed in field studies (e.g. Hermansson et al., 1978b), but also confirmed under experimental conditions (Nachreiner et al., 1972; Nachreiner & Ginther, 1974). Although only partly understood, the endotoxin exerts its effect in an intricate way upon the endocrine and immune functions. Prolactin, which is essential for maintenance of the milk production in the sow, is significantly lower in sows affected by APP when compared with clinically healthy sows from the same herd (Threlfall et al., 1974). Injection of Escherichia coli endotoxin at low dosages at day 2 post partum suppresses the prolactin (Wagner, 1982; Smith & Wagner, 1984), an effect that also might be indirectly mediated by interleukin-1 (de Ruijter et al., 1988). This suppression in the release of prolactin is not observed when the endotoxin is injected 6 days post partum (Smith & Wagner, 1985). The observed effects might be explained by a higher sensitivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary axis during lactogenesis. The suppression of prolactin leads to a decrease in milk production causing a transient reduction in piglet growth rate (Wagner, 1982).

Mammary glands of sows have been defined as mastitic if the TCC in the secretion is $>5.0 \times 10^6$ cells/ml and the percentage of PMNLs is ≥ 70 (Wegmann, 1985). This elevation in TCC also occurs when mastitis is caused by *E. coli* (Wegmann, 1985; Bertschinger et al., 1990). In mastitic glands, the TCC stabilizes after 10 days on levels between 2.4-3.1x10⁶ cells/ml, while the PMNLs tend to decrease to levels below 70% already after 2 days (Wegmann, 1985).

The pH-values in colostrum and milk from sows suffering from 'agalactia toxaemica' are slightly higher, 7.0 - 7.2 (Ringarp, 1960) or 6.5-8.0 (average 7.2; Martin et al., 1967), compared with pH from clinically non-mastitic glands.

Monitoring the TCC, the PMNLs and the pH in bacteriologically negative and positive (predominated by *E. coli*) colostrum and milk collected from clinically healthy sows as well as from sows suffering from APP would increase our knowledge in this field substantially.

Influence of feeding

The hypothesis of a negative influence of improper feeding regimes imposed upon sows during late gestation was raised in Sweden already during the early 1950's (Sandstedt, 1953). Since then, the risk of overfeeding sows, including feeding excessive protein, has been of particular consideration (Ringarp, 1960; Sandstedt et al., 1979). The result of a comprehensive Swedish study of the 'agalactia toxaemica' syndrome clearly indicates that an interrelationship exists between the syndrome and intoxications and (or) infections of gastrointestinal origin and that deficiencies in feed and feed-hygiene are predisposing factors of significance (Ringarp, 1960). Different feeding regimes, such as drastic dietary changes, feeding poor quality fodder or feeding the sows large quantities of skim milk (excess protein) during late gestation, have been found to produce clinical symptoms characteristic of the 'agalactia toxaemica' syndrome (Ringarp, 1960). However, confusion might arise when interpreting differences in the clinical symptoms observed and how the intensity of these symptoms varies between sows belonging to different herds (Ringarp, 1960).

The influence of a restricted feeding intensity during the final 3 weeks of the gestation period seems to cause a substantial decrease in the occurrence of MMA in sows (Sandstedt et al., 1979). Møller Jensen (1981) has shown that the implementation of a restricted feed allowance, as was suggested by Sandstedt et al. (1979), was found not only to decrease the incidence of MMA but also mitigate the intensity of the clinical symptoms in diseased sows. A reduction of the percentage of crude protein from 14-15% to 10-11% in the late gestation feed mixture also resulted in a substantial reduction in the expected incidence of MMA (Sandstedt et al., 1979). The use of laxative feed such as wheat bran, substituting half of the regular feed amount, has been suggested to be a successfully prophylactic treatment, as constipation is a common clinical component of the 'agalactia toxaemica' syndrome (Ringarp, 1960). The result from one study indicates that an increase in the crude fibre content of the diet might decrease the incidence of agalactia (Göransson, 1989a). In another recently published study, the influence of an all-vegetable protein diet upon the health status of sows post partum indicates a decrease in sows suffering from agalactia (Göransson, 1990b).

An intricate interrelationship seems to exist between deficiencies in the feeding regimes or feed-hygiene and the APP syndrome. It would therefore be of interest, under standardized conditions, to study the effects of a very restricted feed allowance during the late gestation period upon the health status and performance of sows.

Teat injuries and chronic mastitis

The piglets start to set up a relatively stable 'teat order' already within the first hours after birth (Hartsock & Graves, 1976), resulting in fights between littermates. This fighting continues up to one week of age (Newberry & Wood-Gush, 1985), but the competition continues to be important throughout lactation (Fraser, 1990). Teeth resection is performed by many farmers to minimize laceration of the faces of littermates but also in attempts to minimize skin injuries of the mammary glands of their mother (Fraser, 1975). Omission of the resection of the needle-teeth resulted in increased frequency of bites on the sow's udder (Hutter, 1993). The fighting might be one of several factors that damage the mammary glands and teats, thus predisposing for impaired udder health. Exposure of the mammary glands and teats to different flooring in the farrowing pens has been investigated in some studies (Svendsen et al., 1984; Edwards & Lightfoot, 1986). The frequency of teat injuries and teat cuts was increased if a perforated floor was used and tended to be highest at weaning (Edwards & Lightfoot, 1986). The frequency of acute teat wounds among recently weaned sows was found to be 3.7 % in a survey of sows slaughtered at a commercial abattoir (Bollwahn & Meermeier, 1989).

Ubiguitous bacteria might colonize wounds of the mammary glands and teats in sows, mainly caused by penetration of the sharp teeth of the piglets (Magnusson, 1928; Englert, 1961; Renk, 1962; Jones, 1980; Meermeier, 1987), implying a risk of causing inflammation, fibrosis and occlusion of the teat canals (Done, 1980), and further invade the mammary glands, causing chronic mastitis with formation of abscesses, phlegmonas and granulomas. A heterogeneous microbiological flora comprising aerobic as well as anaerobic bacteria such as Staphylococcus spp., Streptococcus spp., Actinomyces pyogenes, Bacteroides spp., Fusobacterium necrophorum and Pasteurella multocida are frequently isolated concomitant with post mortem examination of cases of chronic mastitis (Delgado & Jones, 1981; Bollwahn & Meermeier, 1989). Actinomyces suis is another bacteria that has been suggested to be of major importance as an etiological agent of the disease (Englert, 1961: Franke, 1973a,b). In a recent study, Franke received support from Oomi et al. (1994). Patchimasiri et al. (1994) claim that A. suis can be isolated from 10% of examined tonsils of 1-year-old pigs. Further, it is suggested that sucking pigs will transmit A. suis from their mouths through incisions or injuries of the mammary glands (Oomi et al., 1994). The ultimate consequence of these chronic types of mastitis might be the formation of what is clinically denoted 'actinomycosis', which in pathological terminology is determined as chronic granulomatous mastitis. The morphological appearance of this chronic mastitis is a moderately enlarged mammary gland, which in exceptional cases reaches the size of large tumours - actinomycomas - hanging down from the udder (Magnusson, 1928). The pyogenic centre of the granulomas often fistulate and infectious material is spread through open ulcers to the environment (Eich, 1984). The normal mammary tissue is successively destroyed and replaced with a dense connective tissue. The general condition of the sows is not disturbed and the piglets are allowed to massage and suckle the mammary glands (Eich, 1984). The impaired udder health status of the sow leads to decreased milk production and thus predisposes for malnutrition of the offspring (Englert et al., 1956).

Available information is very limited in the area of teat injuries caused by external factors. Since perforated floors are generally not used in Swedish farrowing pens, it might be assumed that the sucking of the pigs might be one factor that exerts a more pronounced effect when contributing to the etiology of teat injuries. It would therefore be of first priority to submit the prevalence of teat injuries at weaning under normal herd conditions to unbiased examination. Veterinary practitioners claim that udder health problems with special emphasis on chronic mastitis are problem on the increase. Since no extensive study has been carried out in Sweden for many decades, it might be of highest priority to start to investigate the problem from an approach where clinical, microbiological and pathological examinations are combined.

Aims of the study

The aims of the present work on sows were to study:

- the effects of a restricted feed level versus a standard feed level during late pregnancy upon the clinical health status and performance of the sows, with special reference to the agalactia post partum (APP);
- the TCC, its proportion of PMNLs, and pH in bacteria-free colostrum and milk, on days 1, 3, 8 and 22 of lactation in 6 consecutive lactations, and the potential influence of the two feeding regimes;
- the TCC, its proportion of PMNLs, and pH in bacteriologically negative or *E. coli* positive colostrum and milk from APP sows and from clinically healthy sows;
- the mammary glands and teats of sows at weaning and at 7 days after weaning with special focus on teat injuries and palpatory changes of mammary tissue;
- the bacteriology, the TCC and its proportion of PMNLs in milk/secretion from normal and from clinically abnormal mammary glands and teats at weaning and at 7 days after weaning;
- the bacteriology, milk-cytology and histopathology with reference to clinically diagnosed chronic granulomatous mastitis (CGM).

Material and methods

Animals and locations

The sows included in the experiments were 39 pairs of full sibs (Papers I, II and III). They were cross-bred Swedish Landrace x Swedish Yorkshire. Twenty-four of the 39 pairs entered the trial as gilts and were kept for 6 parities if possible. One sow in each pair was randomly allocated to the control group, and the other to the experimental group. The investigation was carried out at the Research Station at Funbo-Lövsta, Department of Nutrition and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden. The results of this study were obtained from summer 1981 to autumn 1984.

The animals in paper IV comprised 76 sows (mainly Swedish Landrace x Swedish Yorkshire) belonging to three commercial pig farms, supervised by the Swine Herd Health Practice of the Ambulatory Clinic (Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences). The investigation was carried out during spring and autumn 1994. The sows were farrowing in batches of 15 to 20. Twenty-five sows were examined after two consecutive lactations.

The 11 sows in paper V (mainly Swedish Landrace x Swedish Yorkshire) belonged to six commercial pig farms, where the frequency of sows affected by chronic mastitis tended to increase. Six of the sows examined emanated from three farms, that obtained their pregnant sows from a 'sow-pool'.

In the chapter summarizing the results of this thesis (p. 34), another three sows from one farm are included. On this particular farm, the annual culling frequencies during 1995 and 1996 were estimated to 50%, mainly caused by disturbed udder health predominated by chronic mastitis.

Rearing systems

Three weeks before expected farrowing, the sows were transferred to thoroughly cleaned solid-floor pens with separate and solid dunging area (Papers I, II and III). All sows were kept loose during farrowing and lactation. The piglets were weaned at 6 weeks of age. At weaning, the sows were moved to stalls next to the boar for mating. After mating, the sows were kept in pens in groups of 4 but were individually fed.

The sows in paper IV were moved to individual pens before farrowing. The sows were allowed to move around during farrowing and lactation. The sows had access to separate dunging areas in two of three farms. In a few cases, the litters were subjected to cross-fostering within the first few days post partum. In paper V, the accommodations for the sows during lactation were similar to those described in paper IV, with the exception of one farm where each farrowing pen was occupied by three sows and their respective litters, freely moving around during the lactation period.

Diets and feeding regimes

In the first experiment (Papers I, II and III), the sows were fed a commercial cereal-based type of diet with 11.5 MJ/kg per kg and 14.9% crude protein. All animals had free access to straw and water. The animals in the control group (C) were fed 2.4 kg per day during the first 100 days of pregnancy and then 3.4 kg per day until farrowing. The experimental group (E) was offered extra between 30-100 days of gestation and then 1.0 kg daily (minerals and vitamins supplemented) during the last 15 days of gestation. The total amount of feed given during the gestation period was equalized for both groups. During lactation, the daily feed allowances were successively increased for all sows to a maximum of 4.0 kg + 0.2 per piglet within 14 days after farrowing.

In paper IV, the sows were fed commercial concentrates mixed preferably with barley and to a minor degree with oats, wheat or rye wheat. The levels of energy and digestible crude protein per kilogram were 12.6 MJ and 145 g, respectively, approximately following Swedish sow diet standards (Simonsson, 1993). The sows were offered 6-10 kg per day during lactation (adjusted to number of piglets per litter) and 4 kg per day after weaning until breeding and thereafter approximately 2.5 kg per day. The sows included in paper V were also fed according to Swedish stock-breeding standards.

Clinical examination and collection of colostrum and milk

The rectal temperature of the sows was monitored every morning and evening, starting 2 days before expected farrowing and continuing until 2 days after parturition (Papers I, II and III). Sows with a temperature exceeding 39.5° C within 48 hours after parturition were considered to be suffering from agalactia post partum (APP) and were clinically examined by a veterinarian. The general condition and temperament of the sow, appetite and thirst were recorded and the external genital organs were inspected.

Mammary glands with signs of inflammation such as swelling, reddening or soreness were selected for milk sampling together with clinically normal glands opposite to the affected ones. The piglets were removed from the sow 30 minutes before milking. The udder was thoroughly washed with soap solution and warm water followed by careful disinfection with iodine and 70% alcohol. Oxytocin (20 IU) was given i.m. to promote milk let-down. The first streams of secretion were discarded from both canals of the teat. Approximately 0.5 ml was collected for bacteriological and 2 ml for cytological analysis, each of the samples in separate plastic tubes. Milk from both the canals was pooled. After sampling, the sows were treated medically. Milk samples were collected from at least 4 different glands of each sow. A follow-up clinical examination was done 2 days later and milk sampling was repeated 2, 7 and 21 days later. Sows not showing symptoms of disease were milk-sampled as healthy controls but in these cases no clinical examination was carried out. Healthy sows were sampled during working hours while diseased sows were sampled regardless of time of farrowing. The samples collected during working hours were immediately analysed for total and differential

cell counts and pH-value. Milk samples collected outside working hours were stored cold or at -20° C until analysed.

All sows included in paper IV were clinically examined on the day of weaning and one week after weaning, with the exception of the sows that were immediately sent for slaughter after the first examination. On the day of weaning, the rectal temperature was measured before further examinations were performed. Body condition as well as the hoof condition were scored and open wounds in the scapular region were registered. Milk production from the mammary glands, full, partial or ceased, was estimated based on the distension of the individual gland. The mammary glands and teats were carefully examined and special attention was focused on injuries of the apex of the teat, skin lesions of the mammary glands and abnormal palpatory findings of the glands. The teat injuries were scored as slight, moderate or severe. Teat injuries characterized as slight were small abrasions at the apex of the teat. A moderate wound was extended over a larger area of the apex of the teat, while severe wounds were characterized by loss of tissue from the apex of the teat. Severe teat injuries could also include eczematous inflammation of larger parts of the skin of the teats. Palpatory findings indicating mastitis were described in detail and also scored as slight, moderate or severe.

Milk samples were collected from mammary glands with teat injuries and (or) from glands with palpatory findings. Samples from clinically normal mammary glands were collected as controls. The milk samples were collected with an identical procedure as described in detail in papers I, II and III. The milk samples were kept on ice until arrival at the laboratory.

The 11 sows included in paper V were clinically examined at the day of weaning in a way identical to that described in paper IV. The whole udder was examined and special attention was focused on the mammary glands with palpatory findings indicating chronic (granulomatous) mastitis. Abscesses and ulcera in mammary glands were scored as severe palpatory findings.

Milk samples were collected from the sows as described in paper IV, with the exception that milk was rarely possible to obtain from glands with abscesses and granulomas.

Bacteriological examination

In papers II and III, approximately 10 μ l of the colostrum and milk was spread onto blood agar containing 5% horse blood and onto agar containing 1% lactose. The agar plates were examined after 24 h at 37°C. Duplicate blood agar plates were incubated anaerobically for 24 h at 37°C. Bacterial colonies were identified macroscopically and microscopically. Coliforms were identified by API 20E biochemical profiles (API 20E S.A., La Balmes Grottes, France) (Paper III). Identified coliform bacteria were also analysed serologically regarding O-antigen and fimbrial structures. When the agar plates were examined, >100 CFU/inoculum (colony forming units), revealed a profuse growth of *E. coli*, 10-100 CFU/inoculum gave moderate growth of *E. coli* and <10 CFU/inoculum sparse growth of *E. coli*. Beta-haemolytic streptococci and staphylococci were identified by use of the Lancefield system and DNAse test, respectively. In paper IV, the milk samples arrived at the laboratory within 3 h (Mastitis Laboratory, National Veterinary Institute, Uppsala, Sweden). The milk samples were cultured and examined basically according to Nordic recommendations on examination of bovine quarter milk samples (Klastrup & Schmidt Madsen, 1974).

Milk samples collected in paper V were spread on blood agar plates for aerobic and anaerobic examination within 1 hour after collection. These procedures were performed on the farms. 10 µl of the collected milk was streaked onto bovine blood agar plates (5%, v/v, containing 0.5 g of aesculin per 1 litre of agar). The milk samples were also examined anaerobically after cultivation on Fastidious Anaerobic Agar (F.A.A.) in BBL Gas Pak+TM Anaerobic system with Envelopes containing Palladium Katalyst (Becton Dickinson, Cockeysville, U.S.A). The agar plates were delivered to the laboratory (Department of Veterinary Microbiology, Section of Clinical Microbiology, SLU, Uppsala) within 3 h and incubated immediately at 37°C. The aerobic cultures were examined after 24 h and 48 h. The anaerobic bacteria were subcultured under aerobic and anaerobic conditions for another 48 h. Thereafter, the anaerobic isolates were tested biochemically, using the Rapid ID 32A test-system, Bio Mérieux SA Marcy - l'Etoile (Lyon, France) or analysed using gas-chromatography and biochemical tests.

The eleven sows (Paper V) were slaughtered at the unit for sanitary slaughter (Scan-Farmek, Uppsala, Sweden) from 0 to 9 days after weaning. The udder was thoroughly washed before being removed from the carcass. The udder was then placed on ice in a plastic box and transported to the laboratory (Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology). Tissue specimens from mammary glands earlier designated as clinically healthy and from glands with granulomatous lesions were collected after incision. The specimens were kept in petri dishes under aseptic conditions until preparations for bacteriological examination were performed. The surface of the mammary tissue specimens were heat-sterilized and material was collected from the centre of the tissue. Thereafter, the bacteriological examinations were the same as those described for the milk samples (Paper V).

From one herd, 3 sows severely affected by chronic mastitis were slaughtered at the unit for sanitary slaughter (Scan-Farmek, Uppsala, Sweden) between days 1 and 3 after weaning. The removal of the udder was carried out in the same way as described previously, and collection of material for aerobic and anaerobic bacteriological examinations initially followed the same procedures as described in paper V. In addition to these initial procedures, material was collected from the same tissue specimens in attempts to isolate granules from the pus or exudate. The flake- or granule-like material was placed in plastic tubes after collection and carefully washed in distilled water. This procedure was repeated 5 times. The remaining granules were then crushed and from this material, aerobic and anaerobic bacteriological examinations were performed as described previously. The anaerobic strains were further characterized at the Department of Bacteriology, National Veterinary Institute, Uppsala, Sweden. The final characterization of the phenotype profile was performed at the Department of Clinical Bacteriology, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Gothenburg, Sweden. The strain (*Actinomyces*- EF Group 78, CCUG 37626) was not previously isolated and was included in the culture collection as a 'new' strain of the genus *Actinomyces*. Further characterizations of the strain are in progress (FAME, protein profiles and sequencing of 16S rRNA in attempts to determine the phylogenetic relationships).

Cytology

In papers II, III, IV and V the total cell count was performed according to a method originally described by Prescott & Breed (1910) and modified based on the norms issued by the Sub-committee on Screening Tests, United States National Mastitis Council (1968).

Two smears were prepared from each sample on carefully cleaned slides. 0.01 ml of milk was placed on the slide by means of a microsyringe. Each drop was spread over an area of 0.5x2 cm (1 cm^2) and allowed to dry overnight. Methanol was then used as fixative and the smears were again allowed to dry until the next day. On day 3, the fixed smears were immersed in Newman's stain and allowed to dry overnight. On day 4, the stained smears were carefully washed in water and again allowed to dry until day 5 when total cell counts (Papers II, III, IV and V) and differential counts of polymorphonuclear leucocytes (PMNLs) (Papers II and III) were carried out at a magnification of x1000 under oil in a light microscope.

In papers IV and V, acridine orange (AO) staining of unwashed mammary secretion and fluorescence microscopy for differential cell counting (PMNLs) was performed according to the method described by Magnusson et al. (1991). Briefly, 20 μ l of mammary secretion was diluted with 100 μ l AO. Two hundred cells in the suspension were counted in a microscope equipped with UV light and fluorescence outfits (Dialux 20, Leitz Wetzlar, Germany).

The lowest cell class limit was established from bacteriologically negative samples by calculating the mean ± 2 SD, and was found to be close to 10×10^6 cells/ml (Paper II). This cytological threshold level was further utilized in paper III in the definition of mastitis, i.e. mammary glands were considered to be mastitic if TCC exceeded 10×10^6 cells/ml.

pН

The pH of fresh colostrum and milk, delivered immediately to the laboratory, was determined with a digital pH-meter (Orion Research model 701 A) (Papers II and III).

Histopathological examination

Tissue specimens (approximately 1 cm³) were fixed in 4% neutral buffered formaldehyde, embedded in paraffin, sectioned and stained with hematoxylin-eosin (HE) (Paper V). This procedure was also performed regarding tissue specimens from the mammary glands of the extra 3 sows included in the thesis.

Further examinations were carried out according to procedures used at the Department of Pathology (SLU). After histopathological confirmation, glands

clinically diagnosed with chronic granulomatous mastitis were denoted chronic pyogranulomatous mastitis.

Statistical analyses

Data handling, and the statistical analyses were performed by using the SAS software (SAS Institute Inc. 1989). Continuous traits were analysed by using analysis of variance (GLM procedures), and frequencies were analysed by using the chi-square test (Paper I) or Fisher's exact tests (Paper IV).

The statistical model used in paper I, included the effects of feeding level, health status and the interaction between feeding level and health status.

In papers II and III, logarithmic transformation (log_{10}) of the cytological variables was used with the aim of obtaining a more normal distribution. The statistical models in papers II and III included in different combinations the effects of feeding level, health status, day of sampling, lactation number and interactions between these effects.

In papers IV and V, the statistical models included the effects of herd, lactation number, health status and interactions. When repeated observations were present for each sow, the effect of sow was included in the models and was regarded as random. This means that the variation between sows was taken into account in the tests of significance of the fixed effects.

In the presentation of the results, the following levels of significance were used: N.S.= p>0.05, *= $p\le0.05$, **= $p\le0.01$, ***= $p\le0.001$.

Results

Udder and general health conditions at farrowing and during the early lactation period

The effect of different feed allowances during late pregnancy on health status and performance of sows with special reference to APP (Paper I)

The incidence of APP was significantly more common in the control group of sows, where APP was diagnosed in 52 out of 195 lactations (26.6%) compared with 26 out of 181 (14.4%) lactations in the experimental group. Twenty-four of the sows in the experimental group and 11 sows in the control group were never diseased during the time of the experiment. The number of sows diseased at 1, 2 or 3 or more lactations in the control group and experimental group were 13, 9 and 6 versus 9, 3 and 3 animals, respectively.

The mean value of the rectal temperature was significantly higher in affected sows than in healthy sows from 1 day before farrowing until 1 day after farrowing, in both groups. A negative impact on the general condition and on the feed and water consumption was more pronounced among sows in the control group whereas a majority of the sows in the experimental group were registered as unaffected at the first clinical examination. This difference in clinical health status between sows in the two groups was obliterated at the second clinical examination. Udder changes were recorded in 88% of lactations in the experimental group and in 73% in the control group at the first examination and in 58% and 31%, respectively, at the second examination.

The length of the gestation period and the interval from weaning to first oestrus did not differ between healthy and agalactic sows. No significant differences in litter size at birth or at weaning were found between healthy and agalactic sows, although non-agalactic sows weaned a numerically higher number, 0.5 pigs/litter. The agalactic sows farrowed a significantly higher number of stillborn piglets compared with the non-agalactic sows, 1.0 versus 0.6 piglets/litter. Twenty-six of 39 sows in the experimental group and 32 of 39 sows in the control group remained in the trial throughout the designated 6 lactations.

TCC, PMNLs and pH in bacteriologically negative colostrum and milk obtained from sows clinically healthy with or without individual mammary glands subclinically infected with E. coli or from sows suffering from APP (Papers II and III)

The majority of the TCC values, 87.3%, obtained from bacteriologically negative colostrum and milk samples (Paper II), were below $10x10^6$ cells/ml, the designated cell class limit above which mastitis was defined. Another two cell class limits were also used in this study, $10-19.99x10^6$ cells/ml and $>19.99x10^6$ cells/ml. TCC values within the two latter cell classes in 63.4% and 58.8%, respectively, were preceded by cell counts below the threshold of $10x10^6$ cells/ml and in 46.3% and 58.8% succeeded by cell counts below the threshold. In another 26.8% and 17.6%,

neither the preceding nor the succeeding cell counts exceeded the threshold. A majority of the TCC values above $10x10^6$ cells/ml were obtained from a limited number of sows.

The mean of the TCC values below the threshold of 10×10^6 cells/ml increased significantly from day 1 to day 3 (1.23×10^6 versus 1.86×10^6) followed by a significant decrease to day 22. When cell counts from all cell classes were included, the TCC also increased significantly from day 1 to day 3. The TCC on day 22 was still on a significantly elevated level compared with that on day 1 (2.10 $\times 10^6$ versus 1.38 $\times 10^6$).

In the cell class below 10×10^6 cells/ml, the percentage of PMNLs decreased significantly from 58.5% on day 1 to 49.0% on day 3 of lactation. Thereafter, the percentage of PMNLs further decreased to 42.2% on day 8 (p<0.05) followed by a significant increase to 50.0% on day 22. When all cell classes were included, the PMNLs decreased significantly from 59.6% on day 1 to 49.1% on day 3, thereafter no further significant changes occurred.

The pH in colostrum and milk with a total cell content below the threshold value, increased significantly from 6.17 to 6.55 between days 1 and 3 and further to 7.01 on day 8, followed by a significant decline from day 8 to day 22 (7.01 versus 6.86). When pH-values from all cell classes were included, the pH-values remained stable and the changes between sampling days were almost at the same level.

In bacteriologically negative colostrum and milk samples collected from APP sows and from healthy sows but subclinically infected with *E coli*, the TCC-values increased significantly from day 1 to day 3 and thereafter decreased to day 8 (Paper III). The TCC-values from colostrum and milk samples on day 1 were significantly higher in APP sows (2.27×10^6) than in healthy sows with or without subclinical *E. coli* infected mammary glands $(1.51 \times 10^6 \text{ and } 1.38 \times 10^6, \text{ respectively})$. On day 3, the TCC was significantly higher in APP sows (4.86×10^6) than in healthy sows without subclinical infections (3.18×10^6) .

On day 1, the percentage of PMNLs in bacteriologically negative colostrum from clinically healthy sows without subclinical E. *coli* infections was significantly higher than in colostrum from subclinically E. *coli* infected sows or from APP sows (59.6% versus 43.5% and 48.3%, respectively). The percentage of PMNLs within the 3 groups thereafter decreased to values between 36.5 and 50.0.

The pH-values on days 1 and 3 were significantly higher in samples from APP sows than in the other 2 groups of sows (6.29 versus 6.18 and 6.18, respectively). There were significant increases in pH between days 1 and 3 and between days 3 and 8 in all 3 groups of sows.

The lactation number had a significant influence on TCC below 10×10^6 cells/ml (Papers II and III) and on PMNLs (Paper III), an influence that also tended to be significant on the pH (Paper III). The APP sows showed a significantly higher mean pH than the other 2 groups of sows (Paper III). The TCC increased significantly from the first lactation (1.01×10^6) , reaching a maximum in lactations 4 and 5 $(1.85 \times 10^6 \text{ and } 1.78 \times 10^6)$, respectively) (paper II). Within the cell class below 10×10^6 cells/ml, the PMNL percentage increased significantly from the first

lactation (42.8%) to lactations 3 to 6 (paper II). In lactations 2 to 5, the PMNLs fluctuated between 49.3% and 55.1%.

Neither of the two feeding regimes influenced the TCC, the PMNLs or the pH on the consecutive 4 sampling occasions (Papers II and III), except for higher TCCvalues in APP sows in the control group than in APP sows in the experimental group (Paper III).

TCC, PMNLs and pH in colostrum and milk obtained from sows suffering from APP or clinically healthy but subclinically infected with E. coli (Paper III)

In sows suffering from APP, *E. coli* was diagnosed in 41 out of 51 (80%) lactations in the control sows and in 22 out of 26 (84%) in the experimental sows. In a few cases other bacterial infections were diagnosed, such as α - and β -haemolytic streptococci, *Staphylococcus* spp., anaerobic grampositive cocci, and *Enterobacter agglomerans*.

Among clinically healthy sows, *E. coli* infection was diagnosed in samples from mammary glands on the first sampling occasion in 11 out of 37 (30%) lactations in the control group and in 19 out of 59 (32%) lactations in the experimental group.

In sows suffering from APP and in sows that were healthy but subclinically infected with *E. coli*, growth of *E. coli* was revealed only on days 1 and 3 of lactation. In sows suffering from APP, the intensity in growth of *E. coli* was 63% profuse, 18% moderate and 19% sparse on the first sampling day. On day 3 of lactation, *E. coli* was isolated from 35% of the milk samples. Six % showed profuse growth, 13% moderate and 16% sparse. In sows that were clinically healthy but subclinically infected, the intensity of *E. coli* growth was 52% profuse, 34% moderate and 14% sparse on the first sampling day. On day 3 there was moderate growth of *E. coli* in 21% and sparse growth in 17% of the mammary glands.

In sows that were clinically suffering from APP, 87 mammary glands out of 116 infected with *E. coli*, and in the subclinical group, 17 out of 29 infected with *E. coli*, exceeded the TCC threshold of 10×10^6 cells/ml already on the first sampling day. In sows clinically suffering from APP and infected with *E. coli*, the average TCC was 82.27×10^6 on day one. The TCC decreased gradually from day 1 to day 22, the decrease being significant between days 3 and 8. In sows subclinically infected with *E. coli*, the average TCC in colostrum samples was 156.65×10^6 , followed by a significant and gradual decrease to 3.28×10^6 on day 22. A comparison between the 2 groups of sows on day 1 of lactation revealed a numerically higher (p=0.08) TCC-value in the subclinical (156.65×10^6) than in the clinical (82.27×10^6) sows. On subsequent sampling days, the TCC values were significantly higher in the clinically infected sows than in the subclinical sows.

The percentage of PMNLs on day 1 was numerically higher (p=0.0581) in the subclinically infected sows than in the clinically infected sows (79.0% versus 65.8%). Within both clinical groups, there was a decrease from day 1 to day 3, the decrease being significant in the subclinical group, and thereafter, stabilizing on a level between 54.0% and 43.4%.

The pH-values in colostrum and milk samples collected from sows clinically (APP) or subclinically infected with $E.\ coli$, gradually increased between days 1 and 8, the increase being significant between day 3 and day 8, thereafter stabilizing on the day 8 level.

The 2 different feeding regimes did not influence the TCC, the percentage of PMNLs, or the pH in sows clinically (APP) or subclinically infected with *E. coli*.

The lactation number did not influence the TCC in the 2 clinical groups of sows, whereas it did have a significant influence on the PMNLs. During the 6 consecutive lactations, the sows with clinically or subclinically infected *E. coli* mammary glands showed a PMNL varying from 38.7 to 80.0%. Within both groups of sows, the percentage of PMNLs at the sixth lactation was significantly lower than in the preceding 5 lactations.

It was further possible to compare results from bacteriological and cytological examinations from 26 mammary glands emanating from 11 sows during two or more consecutive lactations. In the first lactation observed, and on the first sampling occasion, the bacteriological examination of all these 26 glands revealed *E. coli*, in sparse, moderate or profuse growth. No growth of *E. coli* was obtained when sampling was repeated for the third time (day 8). During the third and fourth samplings, 10 mammary glands had ceased in producing milk, and the TCC had decreased in 8 of the remaining 16 glands. When milk sampling was repeated from the same 26 mammary glands on the subsequent lactations, *E. coli* was isolated from 8 mammary glands, of which 6 revealed a TCC exceeding $10x10^6$ cells/ml. From the same sow, milk was sampled from the same mammary gland in two different lactations, and the isolated *E. coli* strains belonged to different serotypes (Pedersen Mörner et al., 1997).

Relationship between clinical mastitis and results from bacteriological and cytological examinations

When the diseased sows in the experimental and control feeding groups were clinically examined, swelling, reddening and (or) soreness were found to be common symptoms.

In APP sows and irrespective of feeding regimes, infections with major pathogens such as *E. coli* and *Staphylococci* spp., revealed clinical symptoms of swelling, reddening and (or) soreness in 51% of the mammary glands at the first clinical examination (Tables 2 and 3). Mastitis (TCC> 10×10^6 cells/ml) was revealed in approximately 45% of the mammary glands in the 2 groups of sows.

When laboratory diagnosis, *E. coli* and a $TCC>10x10^6$ were compared with the clinical diagnosis of mastitis on the first sampling occasion in APP sows in both groups it was demonstrated that 38 of 87 (44%) of the mammary glands showed swelling, reddening and (or) soreness (Paper III, pp. 300-301).

Profuse growth of *E. coli* was often associated with a rise in TCC exceeding $10x10^{6}$ cells/ml.

Table 2. Experimental group of sows at first clinical examination post partum. Clinical status of 54 mammary glands recorded as swelling/reddening/soreness (s/r/s) and compared with bacterial result and cell count classes (TCC <10, TCC>10). The results emanate from 23 of 26 diseased lactations with at least one mammary gland clinically recorded as s/r/s

	Bacterial	Cell count (10 ⁶)			
No growth	Mixed flora	E. coli	Other growth	TCC<10	TCC>10
20				16	4
	6			4	2
		25		7	18
			2	1	1
				1ª	
				29	25

a/ Data incomplete - no bacteriological examination.

Table 3. Control group of sows at first clinical examination post partum. Clinical status of 63 mammary glands recorded as s/r/s and compared with bacterial result and cell count classes (TCC <10, TCC>10). The results emanate from 36 of 52 lactations with at least one mammary gland clinically recorded as s/r/s

	Bacteria	l result		Cell cou	10^{6}
No growth	Mixed flora	E. coli	Other growth	TCC<10	TCC>10
20				18	2
	10			9	1
		27+2 ^b		7	20
			2	1	1
					2ª
				35	26

a/ Data incomplete - no bacteriological examination. b/ Data incomplete - no cell counting.

Table 4. Clinical estimation of milk production by assessment of the degree of distension of mammary glands. The milk production was scored as full, partial or ceased. Twenty-five sows that contributed with 2 subsequent lactations during spring and autumn were compared

	Spring			Autumn	
Full	Partial	Ceased	Full	Partial	Ceased
187			149	11	27
	55		33	10	12
_		105	47	14	44
187	55	105	229	35	83
(53.9%)	(15.9%)	(30.2%)	(66.0%)	(10.1%)	(23.9%)

Udder health at the time of weaning

Frequency of teat injuries and abnormal mammary gland consistency at weaning (Paper IV)

Clinical estimation of milk production showed that more than 80% of the thoracic pairs and first abdominal pair were in full production at the end of the lactation. A comparison between the 25 sows that contributed with 2 consecutive lactations showed that the milk production status from individual mammary glands varied between spring and autumn (Table 4).

The percentage of lactations with teat injuries and (or) udder skin lesions was 60%, irrespective of lactation number, while the percentage of lactations with palpable changes increased significantly with increasing lactation number, reaching 61% at lactation numbers \geq 3. Twenty-two of 99 lactations did not exhibit either teat injury or palpable mammary changes.

On the day of weaning, 21 out of 162 mammary glands with teat injuries were scored as severe, while 27 out of 85 mammary glands were scored with severe palpable changes. The remaining teat injuries and palpable changes were classified as moderate or slight. The teat or udder skin injuries varied in frequency from 16.3% in the 1st pair of teats to 10.9% in the 6th pair. The 162 observed injuries corresponded to 11.6% of all mammary glands examined. Palpatory changes of the mammary glands (9.4%) and varied from 2.5% to 9.4% within the seven pairs of mammary glands. Palpatory changes were found in 6.1% of the total number of glands examined.

On the day of weaning, 21 teat injuries and (or) udder skin injuries were scored as severe. Seven days post weaning, only one teat was still severely injured. Half the total number of mammary glands with palpable changes at weaning, were found to be clinically normal at 7 days post weaning, while 15 of the 27 mammary glands with severe palpable changes at the day of weaning also showed severe palpable changes 7 days later.

Twenty out of 47 (42%) milk samples collected from clinically normal mammary glands, and 25 out of 56 (45%) milk samples collected from mammary glands and teats with clinical changes, yielded growth of bacteria regarded as potential pathogens relevant for mammary gland infection. The bacterial flora was dominated by non-haemolytic as well as α - and β -haemolytic streptococci. The β -haemolytic streptococci were isolated more frequently from mammary glands and teats with clinical changes. When the sows were re-examined 7 days post weaning, secretions could be squeezed out from 10 glands of 10 sows. At weaning all these 10 glands had been clinically described with udder skin lesions, teat apex injuries or atrophy of the gland. Coagulase positive and coagulase negative staphylococci, β -haemolytic streptococci, *Actinomyces pyogenes*, and *Fusobacterium necrophorum* were isolated 7 days post weaning from these glands.

The TCC in milk from clinically normal mammary glands was almost significantly lower than TCC from glands and teats with clinical changes. The numbers of PMNLs and the percentage of PMNLs were significantly or almost significantly higher in milk from the abnormal glands and teats. The TCC in milk from clinically normal glands without bacterial growth was significantly lower than the TCC in milk without bacterial growth but emanating from clinically abnormal mammary glands and teats. When the same milk samples were compared, the PMNLs expressed as absolute or percentage values showed a significant or an almost significant difference. Chronic granulomatous mastitis (CGM) in sows with reference to clinical findings, bacteriology, cytology and histopathology (Paper V)

Clinical estimation of milk production revealed full production in 86.4% of the two thoracic pairs of mammary glands while production in the remaining pairs decreased caudally with the pair.

Thirteen mammary glands with ceased milk production were described as CGM and most of these glands were found in the abdominal pairs of mammary glands. Eight mammary glands with palpable changes, 2 of which were described as CGM, were found within the group with partial milk production. An average of 1.5 mammary glands per sow were described as CGM.

Mammary glands described as CGM were firm, moderately enlarged and distorted by a few to numerous irregularly dispersed firm nodules measuring from 1 to several centimetres in diameter. Some of the nodules were ulcerated. Microscopically, granulomatous formations consisted of solitary or multiple solid eosinophilic bodies with club-like protrusions surrounded by a broad zone of debris and neutrophils, and further demarcated by a reactive fibrous tissue.

Milk samples and tissue specimens were collected from 24 normal mammary glands. Bacteriological examination of milk samples revealed 8 samples with no growth, 12 with mixed flora, and 4 with growth of *Streptococcus* spp. Culturing of corresponding mammary tissue revealed 20 specimens with no growth and 4 with growth of mixed flora. Histopathologically, 23 specimens were normal while lesions of acute mastitis were evident in one gland.

Twenty-eight mammary glands with clinical changes were examined, of which 11 exhibited minor and 17 major clinical changes. Ten glands could not be sampled for milk, 8 of which had major clinical changes. Bacteriological examination of tissue specimens of 2 of these 10 mammary glands were negative and from the remaining 8, bacteria such as A. pyogenes, F. necrophorum and Staphylococcus spp. were isolated. Seven milk samples revealed no bacteriological growth while bacterial examination of tissue specimens from corresponding glands vielded isolates of A. pyogenes, F. necrophorum and Prevotella spp. from two glands. Peptostreptococcus from one gland, and negative growth from the remaining 4 mammary glands. A mixed bacterial flora was found in 7 milk samples, while culturing from the corresponding mammary tissue was negative in 5 cases and from the remaining 2 mammary glands Staphylococcus spp. and A. pyogenes were isolated. Pathogens were recovered from 4 milk samples and the bacteria species were as follows: Enterococcus sp. in mixed flora with F. necrophorum, Streptococcus spp. and S. aureus. Only S. aureus was isolated from the tissue specimen. Taken together, bacteriological examination of tissue specimens showed no growth in 13 samples and growth of pathogens in 14 samples. Thirteen glands of 14 with growth of pathogens had earlier been examined and found to have major clinical changes. The histopathological analyses showed normal involution in tissue specimens from 9 mammary glands, chronic pyogranulomatous mastitis in 11 glands, 5 glands with other histopathological changes and 3 glands were not analysed.

The TCC in milk from clinically normal and abnormal mammary glands was not significantly different $(37.17 \times 10^6 \text{ vs } 41.78 \times 10^6)$, respectively). No significant differences were found regarding the PMNLs. The TCC in milk from clinically normal mammary glands with no bacterial growth was numerically lower (28.58×10^6) compared with the TCC in milk with growth of pathogens (47.43×10^6) , while the differences in PMNLs $(0.82 \times 10^6 \text{ vs } 12.90 \times 10^6 \text{ and } 0.59\% \text{ vs } 41.72\%$, respectively) were significant. The milk from clinically abnormal mammary glands and teats revealed no significant differences, regarding TCC, PMNLs or percentage of PMNLs, when the bacteriological results were compared.

Results from an additional study of CGM in 3 sows

This study comprised 3 sows which were clinically examined before slaughter and examined post mortem according to relevant bacteriological and histopathological procedures (Thesis, pp. 24-25). Direct microscopy of washed exudate from all 3 sows showed single or clusters of Gram-positive branching filamentous rods. Similar Gram-positive branching filaments were seen in smears from cultures of the bacteria. Culturing under aerobic conditions yielded growth of S. aureus from exudate of the first sow, growth of S. aureus, P. multocida and Streptococcus suis from the exudate and S. aureus and P. multocida from the washed flakes of the second sow, while culturing of material from the third sow showed small βhaemolytic colonies with a bacterial appearance described as Gram-positive pleomorphic rods. The washed material from all three sows was cultured under anaerobic conditions and revealed considerable differences in colonial morphology. The bacteria were dominated by Gram-positive pleomorphic rods. Phenotypical characterizations of the anaerobic bacteria isolated revealed a 'new' strain of the genus Actinomyces (Actinomyces-EF Group 78, CCUG 37626). A description of the phylogenetical relationships remains to be elucidated.

Histopathological examinations revealed chronic pyogranulomatous mastitis in tissue specimens from all 3 sows.

General discussion

The main objectives of the present investigations were to study (1) the udder of APP sows (agalactia post partum) or sows remaining clinically healthy during the early lactational period and (2) sows with no or escalating clinical signs of impaired udder health at the time of weaning. During the post partum period, the udder health status, the general health condition and the performance of sows were evaluated with special reference to the potential influence of different feed allowances during late pregnancy.

Monitoring of udder health comprised thorough clinical examination of individual mammary glands and bacteriological and cytological examinations of colostrum and milk. In addition, measurement of pH in milk during the early lactational period and histopathological examination of tissue specimens collected from mammary glands of slaughtered sows at the time of weaning were performed.

Early development and diagnosis of agalactia post partum (APP)

In the present study, the rectal temperature was significantly elevated already 1 day before parturition in sows which developed APP, irrespective of whether the sows were exposed to the control or the experimental feeding regimes (Paper I, Figures 2a and 2b). The number of piglets born alive did not differ between clinically healthy and agalactic sows. However, a difference in number of stillborn piglets per litter was found between agalactic and non-agalactic sows (1.0 vs 0.6, respectively) (Paper I, Table 6). This latter observation is in accordance with Hermansson et al. (1978a), Jorsal (1983) and Bäckström et al. (1984). The significant increase of the rectal temperature before farrowing and the significantly larger number of stillborn piglets in sows later developing APP, indicate that APP is established already before parturition. Wegmann (1985), isolated E. coli from mammary glands just prior to farrowing, which further strengthens the hypothesis of an early initiation of APP. Whether an early establishment of APP interferes directly with the vitality of the foetuses and (or) prolongs the labour, resulting in an increased number of stillborn piglets, cannot be confirmed from the present investigation.

For an early detection of APP it is crucial to establish a threshold above which the rectal temperature predicts the disease and only to a minor degree is influenced by different physiological and environmental factors. The advantage of monitoring the rectal temperature is firstly that it provides us with clinical data free of subjective assessments, and secondly that it is a sensitive indicator of inflammation. In clinically healthy lactating sows, Elmore et al. (1979) reported that a 95% confidence interval included body temperatures from 38.9° C to 39.5° C. In our study, several observations support that an acceptable accuracy in prediction of APP was obtained when the threshold of the rectal temperature was set at 39.5° C (Paper I). *E. coli* bacteria were isolated together with a TCC exceeding $10x10^{6}$ cells/ml in 64% of the APP lactations, which clearly demonstrates that *E. coli* mastitis is a major component implicated in the etiology of APP. If we include both *E. coli* infected sows with a delayed TCC rise (day 3), and sows infected with other bacterial species (TCC>10x10⁶), 79% of the APP sows (lactations) were found to suffer from mastitis. The corresponding figure from the sows with a rectal temperature $\leq 39.5^{\circ}$ C was 30%.

The general condition of the APP sow was graded according to degree of severity of different symptoms. At the first clinical examination, 55% of the sows (lactations) were noted to have some degree of symptoms. Less than 40% of the sows (lactations) were observed to have decreases in feed- and water consumption (Paper I, Table 3). Normally, sows eat less feed at the time of farrowing and scoring the water consumption might give incorrect values. Moreover, sows suffering from APP were scored regarding their feed and water consumption, in addition to their general condition, in attempts to evaluate the impact of the two feeding regimes imposed upon them (Paper I, Table 3). Although, the general condition was subjectively graded it clearly indicated that sows fed according to the control feeding regime and developing APP were clinically more severely affected than sows fed according to the experimental feeding regime. More detailed information will be given later, when comparing the effects of the two different feeding regimes.

The assessment of udder health was performed by a thorough clinical examination of the udder. Signs of swelling, hardening and soreness that indicated mastitis were recorded. In APP sows and irrespective of feeding regimes, infections with major pathogens, predominated by E. coli, revealed clinical symptoms in 51% of the mammary glands (Thesis, p. 31, Tables 2 and 3). Similarly, mastitis expressed by an increased cell count (TCC>10x10⁶ cells/ml) revealed clinical symptoms in approximately 45% of the glands. If the bacteriological and cytological analyses were combined, 38 (44%) out of 87 mammary glands infected with E. coli and a concomitant TCC exceeding 10×10^6 revealed clinical symptoms of mastitis (Paper III, pp. 300-301). These comparisons clearly indicate a limited conformity between results obtained from clinical examination and results from bacteriological and cytological examinations. Although somewhat discouraging, it is the author's opinion that a clinical examination of the udder should always be carried out in attempts to set a preliminary diagnosis of mastitis. Only tentative interpretations are advisable before results from the bacteriological and cytological examinations have been compared and evaluated. Sandstedt & Carlquist (1952) suggested that an increased consistency in the mammary glands might be an expression of oedema, a statement that to some extent might account for the discrepancies revealed in the present study between clinical and laboratory diagnoses. The influence of different feeding intensity will be a subject for discussion later in this text.

Factors influencing the cell content in bacteriologically negative colostrum and milk

Knowledge of factors influencing levels and variations of TCC and PMNLs in bacteriologically negative samples of colostrum and milk from clinically healthy sows is of great importance when comparing and interpreting differences between
normal levels of the cell populations and levels indicating inflammation. In the present study, the mean values representing normal cell content levels in colostrum (day 1) and milk emanated without exception from bacteriologically negative samples collected from clinically normal mammary glands in clinically healthy sows. It is also of crucial importance to define an upper cell limit which, when exceeded, clearly indicates an inflammatory process. In the present study, this threshold, 10x10⁶ cells/ml, was established by adding approximately 2 standard deviations to an estimated mean of the TCC. Between 4% and 21% of the TCCvalues, depending on the sampling day, exceeded the designated threshold of 10x10⁶ cells/ml. Colostrum and milk both derive from 2 separate duct systems within the mammary gland (Schummer et al., 1981; Elmore & Martin, 1986). Conditions of the separate systems of the mammary gland may vary and thus contribute to variations in cell counts as may irregular sucking. The increases in TCC, seen in our study was of transient character, since the subsequent TCCvalues were below the threshold in more than 50%. Retrospectively, Wegmann (1985) observed that glands not being suckled increased their mean cell count in milk to levels twice the threshold level already 5 days post partum.

In the present study, the TCC increased significantly from day 1 to day 3 $(1.23 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml vs } 1.86 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml})$ and decreased thereafter gradually to day 22 in clinically healthy sows. The level of TCC on day 1 was higher compared with observations presented by Hurley & Grieve (1988), within the same range as reported by Wegmann (1985) and by Drendel (1991) but lower than in other studies (Ross et al., 1981; Evans et al., 1982; Magnusson et al., 1991). An increase in TCC from day 1 to day 3 is in accordance with previous investigations (Wegmann, 1985; Schollenberger et al., 1986). The subsequent decrease in TCC is also in accordance with earlier reports (Wegmann, 1985; Schollenberger et al., 1986; Magnusson et al., 1991). Most sows successively increase their milk production during the lactation period and reach a peak in production between weeks 3 and 5 (Allen & Lasley, 1960). In the present study, an elevation of milk production might have contributed to a slight dilution effect of the TCC between days 3 and 8. Comparing cows, Brolund (1985) also underlined the significant influence of non-bacterial factors such as daily milk yield and stage of lactation as causes of variation of the somatic cell counts. Also in sows, other unknown factors such as different breeds, might influence the variations in cell content during the lactation period. These factors have to be further elucidated.

Observations from the present study showed that the PMNLs accounted for 60% of the cells in colostrum. The level of PMNLs in colostrum is well in accordance with results from some earlier studies (Lee et al., 1983; Schollenberger et al., 1986; Hurley & Grieve 1988; Magnusson et al., 1991). Weber & Ferguson (1982) reported considerably higher and Evans et al. (1982) slightly higher percentages of PMNLs in colostrum. The reason for their deviating results is unknown. Together with the macrophages the PMNLs are the predominant cells in colostrum from women (Ho et al., 1979) and from cows (Lee et al., 1980). The PMNLs act by their phagocytic properties in the first line of defence against micro-organisms. Recruitment of a sufficient number of effective phagocyting PMNLs might be more

important during the establishment of the lactation, taking into consideration that the sow is still under the influence of the physiological and endocrinological changes occurring at the time of parturition, compared with the remaining lactation period. In our study, the PMNLs in milk varied between 40% and 50% during the lactation period (day 3 to day 22). Concerning this period of the lactation, Schollenberger et al. (1986) described almost identical figures, while others registered a somewhat more pronounced decrease around day 20 of lactation (Evans et al., 1982; Lee et al., 1983). Wegmann (1985) reported an extremely low percentage of neutrophilic granulocytes in both colostrum and milk (<10%), possibly being a result of the staining and counting methods used by him differing to some extent from ours.

TCC and percentage of PMNLs were shown to increase with lactation number (Paper II, Table 4). There was a significant increase in TCC when lactation 1 $(1.01 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml})$ was compared with consecutive lactations 2, 4, 5 and 6. The TCC reached a maximum in lactations 4 and 5 (1.85x10⁶ cells/ml and 1.78x10⁶ cells/ml), and thereafter decreased to the final lactation, number 6. The percentage of PMNL increased significantly from the first lactation, 43%, to successive lactations 3 to 6. In lactations 2 to 5 the PMNLs fluctuated from 49% to 55%. Drendel (1991) observed that the TCC and the number of neutrophilic granulocytes tended to be higher in multiparity sows when they were compared with first parity sows. These observations might indicate an increasing stimulus on the sow's immune system with elevated lactation numbers. This corresponds to observations in cows, where a systematic increase in base-level cell counts has been reported (Emanuelson & Persson, 1984; Brolund, 1985). Several factors were suggested to be involved, among them physiological age differences and effects of previously eliminated infections (Brolund, 1985). It should be underlined that our results emanate from consecutive lactations of the same sows. Nevertheless, as was underlined concerning the variations within lactations, more detailed information is desirable to elucidate and clarify the variations in cell content between consecutive lactations.

The two different feeding regimes during late gestation had no influence on the TCC or the percentage of PMNLs in colostrum and milk during the lactation (Paper II).

Hitherto, the results concerning the cell content in colostrum and milk have emanated from bacteriologically negative samples collected from clinically healthy sows. Also in APP sows and in clinically healthy sows, but with individual mammary glands subclinically infected with *E. coli*, it was possible to obtain colostrum and milk samples without bacterial growth (Paper III, Table 5). The TCC in bacteriologically negative colostrum was significantly higher in APP sows $(2.27 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml})$ than in clinically healthy sows or from clinically healthy but subclinically *E. coli* infected sows $(1.38 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml} \text{ and } 1.51 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml},$ respectively). In milk collected on day 3, a significant difference existed between APP sows and clinically healthy sows without subclinical *E. coli* mastitis. Finally, the differences in TCC between the 3 clinical groups were insignificant on day 22. The elevated TCC level in colostrum from APP sows was most probably caused by a transient hypogalactic condition. This conclusion is further strengthened by the fact that there was a stepwise obliteration in the differences in TCC between the clinical groups of sows during the remaining sampling period up to day 22 when milk production was re-established. In contrast, the percentage of PMNLs in bacteriologically negative colostrum was significantly higher in clinically healthy sows (60%) than in APP sows or in subclinically *E. coli* infected sows (Paper III, Table 6). No significant differences in PMNLs were revealed during the remaining sampling period. The lower percentage values of PMNLs in bacteriologically negative colostrum from APP sows or from clinically healthy sows with subclinical *E. coli* mastitic glands might indicate a redistribution of the PMNLs to the *E. coli* infected glands or, as will be discussed in later passages in this text, be a consequence of endotoxins causing a neutrophilic leucopenia in the blood (Nachreiner et al., 1972). It must be emphasized that the total amount of PMNLs available in bacteriologically negative colostrum in APP sows exceeded the total number of PMNLs present in mammary glands belonging to the healthy sows.

The effect of different feed allowances during late gestation on the occurrence of APP

In the present study (Paper I), sows given a restricted feed allowance (experimental group) during late pregnancy had a significantly lower incidence of APP (14.4%) compared with the control group of sows fed a standard diet (26.6%). The comparatively high incidence rates of diagnosed APP in both groups of sows might be explained by the very careful clinical observations of the sows, starting already 2 days before expected farrowing, and allowing detection of also mild cases of APP. In APP sows, E. coli infection of the udder was diagnosed in 80% of the lactations in the control group and 85% in the experimental group. In clinically healthy sows, infections of E. coli were as frequent in the control group (30%) as in the experimental group (32%). The percentage of APP lactations with growth of E. coli and cell counts exceeding 10×10^6 /ml colostrum and milk, were equal in the experimental and control groups (62% and 65%, respectively). A similar evaluation of the clinically healthy sows revealed that the percentages of lactations with subclinical E. coli mastitis in the experimental and control groups were equal (24%) if we extend the period for elevation of the TCC until day 3. Otherwise, the sows fed according to the experimental regime revealed a lower percentage of lactations with E. coli mastitis (10%) (Paper III, Table 2). Although sows in the experimental group were offered a restricted feeding regime, possibly causing milder symptoms not leading to clinical examination, the observations indicate that the restricted feed allowance did not camouflage sows suffering from APP. On the contrary, the figures strengthen the hypothesis of a correlation between a restricted feeding regime before farrowing and a decreased frequency of APP compared with the feed allowance offered the control group of sows.

Sows exposed to the control feeding regime and developing APP, were to a greater extent clinically depressed with a decrease in feed and water consumption at the first examination, whereas a majority of the sows fed according to the restricted regime were registered as unaffected (Paper I, Table 3). Although the

general condition was scored subjectively, it is clear that sows fed according to the control regime and developing APP were clinically more severely affected and probably more predisposed to develop APP compared with sows fed a restricted feeding regime (experimental group).

Udder changes were registered in 88.4% of agalactic sows in the experimental group and in 73.1% of agalactic sows in the control group (Paper I, Table 3). These figures are in accordance with the work of Ringarp (1960), but are higher than in the work of Hermansson et al. (1978a), who reported signs of mastitis in 45-52% of agalactic sows. A combination of bacteriological and cytological analyses, revealed $87 \ E. \ coli$ mastitic glands, out of which $38 \ (44\%)$ had been examined with clinical symptoms of mastitis. When, comparing the two different feeding groups, $18 \ of 26 \ (69\%)$ glands in the experimental group of sows and 20 of 61 (33%) glands in the control groups of sows were clinically abnormal. These latter observations indicate an impact of feed allowances during late gestation, causing a more pronounced 'physiological' swelling of the mammary glands, which renders it more difficult to palpate.

An overall analysis revealed that the 2 feeding regimes did not influence upon the PMNLs or the pH in milk from glands with *E. coli* mastitis or in milk from bacteriologically negative glands. On the other hand, significantly higher TCC in bacteriologically negative milk in the control group of sows compared with the experimental group $(3.62 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml vs } 2.69 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml}, \text{ Paper III, Table 9})$ was noted.

The result from the present study confirmed the results from Sandstedt et al. (1979), Møller Jensen (1981) and Sandstedt & Sjögren (1982), who reported a decrease in the incidence of agalactia post partum among the sows offered only 1 kg feed per day during the final 3 weeks of the gestation period. In a recent study, Neil (1996) studied sows given a standard diet during the gestation period, but which at farrowing were either fed ad libitum or according to a conventional feeding standard with a stepwise increase in daily feed allowance. The incidence of agalactia was significantly higher in the sows fed ad libitum from the day of farrowing compared with the sows fed according to the standard model after farrowing. Sows fed a diet low in crude protein prior to farrowing were less frequently diseased in APP (Sandstedt, 1953; Sandstedt et al., 1979). In a later Swedish study, Göransson (1989a) reported that an increase in crude fibre content of sows' diet and offered to the sows during gestation, numerically reduced the occurrence of APP compared with sows receiving a diet with normal crude fibre levels. Göransson (1990b) also reported that an all-vegetable protein diet (defatted soy bean meal) compared with a standard diet containing fish-, meat- and bonemeal (both diets being offered to the sows during the last three weeks of gestation) almost significantly reduced the occurrence of APP (30% vs 50%). It might be pointed out that the incidences of APP were high in the two feeding groups of sows and reflected the criteria used when medical treatment was initiated against APP.

The results obtained in the present study indicate an impact of feeding intensity not only on the incidence but also on the severity of APP. A plausible hypothesis suggested by Gooneratne et al. (1982), is that a premature initiation of lactation

causes an engorgement of the mammary glands in connection with an impaired resistance to udder infections. According to the authors, the concentration of Na⁺ was increased while the concentrations of K⁺ and lactose were low in colostrum and milk collected from sows suffering from MMA. These changes in the concentrations of ions might be attributed to leakage through damaged cell membranes. In our study, Göransson (1990a) showed that sows fed according to the restricted feeding regime had significantly higher levels of fat but, on the other hand, also significantly lower levels of IgA in colostrum compared with sows fed according to the control regime. There was no evaluation or discussion of the possibility that the high fat level in colostrum from restricted-fed sows might be of protective value against potential pathogens such as E. coli. The higher fat levels were considered to reflect the metabolic status of these sows synthesising milk directly from body tissue. Mammary glands with impaired resistance to invading infections might be more vulnerable if we consider the potential hazards that exist when the udder is exposed to an environment contaminated by a faecal bacterial flora. Awad-Masalmeh et al. (1990) demonstrated identical O serotypes of E. coli in milk and faeces of one-fourth of 67 sows with coliform mastitis. A restricted feeding regime might partially exert its effect through a smaller amount of faeces produced and thus reduce the exposure of the teats to a contaminated environment (Bertschinger & Pohlenz, 1992). Bertschinger et al. (1990) reported that preventive measures taken in attempts to protect the udder against faecal contamination substantially decreased the number of mammary glands infected with E. coli, although a few mammary glands were still subclinically infected with E. coli. This E. coli mastitis did not cause any clinical signs of systemic effects. This observation indicates that some sows, despite the preventive measures taken, are predisposed to the E. coli infection so strongly incriminated in the etiology of APP, being a conclusion that might raise new hypotheses when studying the etiology of the APP.

Escherichia coli mastitis - clinical, bacteriological and cytological aspects

E. coli has been suggested to be the most common organism invading the mammary glands in sows directly pre- or postpartum. This invasion often leads to mastitis which, in the majority of cases, is implicated in the APP syndrome (Martin et al., 1967; Thurman & Simon, 1970; Armstrong et al., 1968; Bertschinger et al., 1977; Middleton-Williams et al., 1977; Ross et al., 1981; Wegmann, 1985).

Bacteriological examination of colostrum and milk from APP sows or from clinically healthy sows, yielded growth of *E. coli* from one or several mammary glands (approx. 80% and 30% of the lactations, respectively; Paper III). Healthy sows with *E. coli* were designated as being subclinically infected. Whether these *E. coli* bacteria were established before farrowing, as reported by Wegmann (1985), was not investigated in the present study. On the first sampling day, colostrum from mammary glands from clinically healthy sows as well as from APP sows yielded a profuse growth of *E. coli* in more than 50% of the samples. On day 3 of lactation *E. coli* was isolated from 35-40% of the mammary glands which previously had vielded growth of E. coli, with a concomitant decline in the E. coli growth. The final elimination of the E. coli occurred between days 3 and 8. These results are well in accordance with Wegmann (1985), who presented results from a study where 8 multiparous sows were sequentially sampled for milk during a lactation period of 29 days. Subclinical mastitis was cytologically diagnosed in 41 mammary glands, of which 18 revealed growth of E. coli. The author observed that the E. coli was most frequently isolated from the mammary glands during the first and second days post partum. The spontaneous elimination took 0.5 to 4.5 days, with an average time of 2.2 days. My own results (Thesis, p. 30) also support the hypothesis that invaded mammary glands eliminate the E. coli bacteria. No infection and no inflammation persists from one lactation to subsequent ones. An interpretation based on these observations is that the E. coli mastitis in sows is of an acute character and imposed to a strict time-limit during the early lactation period. The bacteriostatic and bactericidal properties in colostrum and milk from unsuckled or mastitic glands was demonstrated to inhibit growth of both enteropathogenic and udderpathogenic E. coli in vitro (Wegmann, 1985). On the contrary, when E. coli was cultured in colostrum and milk from clinically healthy suckled glands, no inhibition in growth was observed. The degree to which the mammary tissue might be destroyed and, consequently, the milk production decreased, was not estimated in our study. Nevertheless, a significant difference in within-litter standard deviation for weights at 3 and 6 weeks of age between clinically healthy and APP sows might indicate a negative influence of APP on milk production (Göransson, 1989b). Also Bertschinger et al. (1990) reported a transient decrease in daily weight gain for the first 4 days of life of piglets sucking mammary glands with subclinical mastitis compared with piglets sucking healthy mammary glands.

Serological analysis of O-antigens was performed in 69 randomly sampled isolates from the present investigation (Pedersen Mörner et al., 1997). Eighteen Oantigens were identified, while 35 of the 69 strains were serologically non-typable. Isolates of E. coli from the same sow and teat during the same lactation belonged to the same serotype, while isolates obtained from different teats in the same sow differed serologically. Armstrong et al. (1968) and Bertschinger et al. (1977) also reported that serotyping of E. coli strains isolated from mastitic milk of sows revealed a high heterogeneity. In the present study, observations of the same mammary glands being sampled for milk during subsequent lactations (Thesis, p. 30) revealed that the E. coli was repeatedly eliminated between days 3 and 8 in the lactations examined. Further, Pedersen Mörner et al. (1997) showed that strains of E. coli isolated from the same teat of a sow on two different lactations belonged to different serotypes. This clearly indicates that the ubiquitous E. coli might act as a potential pathogen. Bertschinger et al. (1990) convincingly confirmed that protection of the mammary glands against faecal contamination from the environment substantially reduced the incidence of puerperal mastitis mainly caused by E. coli.

The *E. coli* in mammary glands of APP sows caused high TCC in milk (Paper III). The clinically healthy sows affected by a subclinical *E. coli* mastitis showed

an even higher TCC on day 1 of lactation than the APP sows (156.65x10⁶ cells/ml and 82.27x10⁶ cells/ml, respectively). Wegmann (1985) defined mammary glands as being mastitic if the TCC exceeded 5.0×10^6 cells/ml and the percentage of neutrophilic granulocytes was \geq 70. In his study, 18 of 41 mastitic glands were infected with E. coli. In the 41 mastitic glands, the TCC increased above 10×10^6 cells/ml milk during the first days post partum. Since the sows remained clinically healthy in his study, the mastitis reaction should be classified as subclinical. In our study, APP sows with E. coli mastitis as well as sows with subclinical E. coli mastitis showed elevations of PMNLs in colostrum. The percentage level of PMNLs tended to be significantly higher in subclinical E. coli mastitis than in clinical E. coli mastitis. This might indicate a more successful migration of the PMNLs to the mammary glands in clinically healthy animals. Data reported by Löfstedt et al. (1983) indicated that susceptibility to E. coli mastitis was associated with deficiencies in number and function of the PMNLs in sows. In cows, a slow migration of neutrophils appears to be associated with the most severe cases of E. coli mastitis (Hill et al., 1979). The lower percentage of PMNLs in milk from mammary glands in the group of sows with APP might also reflect the decrease in segmented neutrophils observed in blood after intravenous or intramammary infusions of endotoxin (Nachreiner et al., 1972; Nachreiner & Ginther, 1974). Endotoxinemia was more prevalent in dysgalactic than in healthy sows (Morkoc et al., 1983). In mastitic mammary glands, Wegmann (1985) obtained levels of neutrophilic granulocytes exceeding 80% of the TCC on day 1 of lactation. After 2 days the percentage of neutrophilic granulocytes fell to levels below 70%, which is in accordance with results obtained in our study.

The lactation number had an overall significant influence on the PMNLs but not on the TCC in APP sows with clinical *E. coli* mastitis and in clinically healthy sows with subclinical *E. coli* mastitis. In both groups of sows, the sixth lactation revealed a significantly lower percentage of PMNLs. It can be emphasized that these findings deviate from results presented earlier, where the lactation number had an influence upon increases in TCC and PMNLs in bacteriologically negative milk obtained from clinically healthy sows (Paper II).

Mastitis at the time of weaning - predisposed by teat- and udder skin injuries?

During lactation, some authors claim that the most probable route for bacteria to enter the mammary tissue is through penetrating wounds of the skin of the mammary glands and teats, mainly caused by the sharp teeth of the piglets (Magnusson, 1928; Englert, 1961; Renk, 1962; Jones, 1980; Meermeier, 1987). The validity of the latter hypothesis ought to be further tested, since potential pathogenic bacteria might also be able to enter the mammary glands in sows by the galactogenic route.

The sucking behaviour of growing piglets is often a vigorous process starting already when they set up a 'teat order' (Fraser & Thompson, 1991). This competition continues throughout lactation (Fraser, 1990) and might be one of several factors that damage the mammary glands and teats and thus predispose to a successively impaired health status of the udder of the sow. Teat damage might also occur in sows as a result of other external mechanical trauma (Done, 1980). Such external trauma might be caused by the perforated floor in the farrowing pen (Svendsen et al., 1984; Edwards & Lightfoot, 1986). Since perforated floors were uncommon in farrowing pens in the present study (Paper IV), the impact of the piglets' sucking behaviour seems to be more prominent. The ultimate consequence of severely impaired udder health in sows at the time of weaning or during the immediate post-weaning period might be the pathological transformation of glands into a condition denoted chronic granulomatous mastitis, CGM, (Paper V).

Observations from the present study indicate that the intensive nursing of the high milk-yielding pairs of mammary glands tended to be correlated with the highest frequency of teat injuries and udder skin injuries (Paper IV, Fig. 1, Table 4). The more severe teat wounds tended to be located in teat pairs 4-6. Whether the occurrence of more severe wounds in teat pairs 4-6 is related to more fighting among piglets managing to remain at the middle of the udder (Fraser, 1975), or to the short distance between the abdominal pairs of mammary glands and the floor, could not be elucidated in our study. Edwards & Lightfoot (1986) reported that the highest frequencies of 'teat cuts' were demonstrated in pairs 5-7, while almost no injuries were found on the three cranial pairs of teats. These 'teat cuts' were caused by the back hoofs of the sows when struggling to stand on the perforated floor.

A re-examination of mammary glands and teats 7 days after weaning revealed that 76% and 50% of the teat injuries and the palpatory changes of the mammary glands, respectively, had healed or disappeared. Surprisingly, even the severe teat injuries declined in severity during the first 7 days after weaning. Pierskalla et al. (1990) observed that 50-70% of all nodular alterations subsided during the first 5 weeks after weaning. Results from my study might to some extent add to the confusion, since it was revealed that another 57 glands (c. 4% of examined glands) were noted with palpatory changes 7 days after weaning (Paper IV, Table 5). These 57 glands were found to be in good order when clinically examined at weaning. In these three herds, the breeding units were provided with abundance of straw that made the environment comfortable for the sows and kept the udders clean, thus reducing the risk of the teat apex becoming infected by potential pathogens. The prevalence of palpable changes increased gradually from the first to the second and subsequent lactations (15%, 30% and 60%). The increases from the first to the second and from the first to the third and subsequent lactations were significant. These figures might indicate a successive negative impact on udder health under the precondition that a clinical examination truly reflects udder health. It must be underlined, as was done for clinical findings from the early lactational phases, that further confirmative bacteriological and cytological analyses are needed before conclusive interpretations are made. Further, it might be interposed that a dynamic variation in the degree of milk production from the same mammary glands was observed when two subsequent lactations were compared (Thesis, p.31, Table 4). Non-suckled teats cease to produce milk already 1-2 days after farrowing (Dellmeier & Friend, 1991). Drendel (1991) reported that milk collected from nonsuckled mammary glands had increasing levels of cells already 5-6 days after cessation of suckling. The remaining number of mammary glands producing milk is fairly well correlated to the number of piglets per litter. Therefore, at the time of weaning, interpretation of clinical findings of single mammary glands exhibiting a non-functional status should be done with care since they might indicate either a physiologically ceased status or cessation caused by pathological destructive processes resulting from severe bacterial infections. Taken together, interpretation of clinical observations implies that hesitancies might arise when trying to predict a long-term outcome of especially minor clinical findings and their significance. Repeated examinations of the mammary glands might to some extent provide better prediction of the long-term outcome of udder health and are therefore desirable. Large variations might exist between different herds, but conclusive knowledge is lacking.

Isolation and identification of the bacterial agents in teat wounds are of fundamental interest, since these bacteria might further enter into the mammary tissue. Bacteriological examination of milk collected from mammary glands with clinically abnormal consistency or from teats with various degrees of lesions were compared with the bacteriological outcome from clinically normal glands (Paper IV, Table 6). Streptococcus spp. and Staphylococcus spp. were isolated to the same extent, although β-haemolytic streptococci were more frequently isolated from abnormal mammary glands and teats. Milk secretions were squeezed out from a few glands with moderate to severe clinical findings 7 days post weaning (Paper IV, Table 6). Bacteriological examination of the secretion revealed S. aureus, Streptococcus spp. and the mammary gland pathogens A. pyogenes and F. necrophorum normally implicated in formation of abscesses in the mammary glands (Delgado & Jones, 1981; Bollwahn & Meermeier, 1989). Milk samples were, when possible, collected from sows suffering from CGM, and revealed a bacterial flora mainly comprising of Streptococcus spp. and Staphylococcus spp. (Paper V, Tables 4a and 4b). Attempts to isolate bacteria from tissue specimens collected from the same glands as were sampled for milk, failed regarding the Streptococcus spp. but were successful for the Staphylococcus spp. Bacteriological examination of tissue specimens severely affected by CGM, revealed a flora comprising the same species as obtained from the milk secretion collected 7 days after weaning (Paper IV). Furthermore. other bacteria such as Peptostreptococcus anaerobicus. Propionibacterium granulosum and Prevotella spp. were also isolated. All the aerobic and anaerobic bacteria were almost always yielded in mixed floras. The bacterial flora isolated in the present studies, (Papers IV, V, Thesis p. 34), with special reference to the tissue, are in agreement with other studies of mammary glands with abscesses or CGM (Englert et al., 1956; Delgado & Jones, 1981; Bollwahn & Meermeier, 1989; Pierskalla et al., 1990). It seems obvious that many different bacterial species are incriminated in the etiology of CGM and ubiquitously occur in the environment of sows (Ehrlich, 1912; Magnusson, 1928; Delgado & Jones, 1981; Pierskalla et al., 1990). The same flora of bacteria are commonly found in connection with other supperative lesions in the pig (McCracken & McCaughey, 1973; Jones, 1980; Engvall & Schwan, 1983).

Franke (1973a,b) isolated 9 microaerophilic strains of actinomycetes from 12 actinomycotic mammary glands of sows and suggested the name 'Actinomyces suis'. 'Actinomyces suis' has been isolated from the tonsils of pigs (Oomi et al., 1994: Patschimasiri et al., 1994). Oomi et al. (1994) claimed that the strain was morphologically and biologically comparable with the description of Franke and was transmitted from the piglets to the mammary glands of the sow by injuries or incisions caused by the sucking. Yamini & Slocombe (1988) reported that 'Actinomyces suis' caused sporadic abortions in sows. The authors pointed out that anaerobic species such as *Actinomyces* are part of the normal flora of the mouth. More bewilderment arose when Ludwig et al. (1992) proposed that Eubacterium suis should be transferred to the genus Actinomyces as Actinomyces suis comb. nov. According to Ludwig et al. (1992), no type strain of the species incertae sedis 'Actinomyces suis' Franke has been validly described. In our study, the strain of Actinomyces (Actinomyces - EF Group 78, CCUG 37626, Thesis p. 34) isolated from one CGM mammary gland, which also yielded growth of aerobic Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcus suis, might indicate synergistic mechanisms between different aerobic and anaerobic bacterial species. Before this 'new' Actinomyces sp. will be accepted, phylogenetic affiliations of the species are certainly required. Nonetheless, the finding might act as encouragement for further elucidative studies in this particular anaerobic field of bacteriology.

In our study, histopathological examinations of severely destroyed mammary glands, (10/11 sows), fulfilled the criteria strongly associated with CGM in sows (Magnusson, 1928; Englert, 1961; Renk, 1962; Berger, 1969). In a study by Pierskalla et al. (1990) bacteriological examination and histopathological analysis failed to classify one-third of the mastitis with abscess formation as CGM.

Monitoring of the cell content of milk has been performed to quantify the influence of an environmental faecal flora on the inflammatory response in mammary glands at the time of parturition (Bertschinger et al., 1990). A similar approach might be applicable at the time of weaning (Papers IV, V). The TCC tended to be higher in milk from mammary glands with teat injuries and palpatory changes than in milk from clinically normal mammary glands (Paper IV, Table 7). A significant difference regarding the number of PMNLs and an almost significant difference regarding the percentage of PMNLs was also observed between the two clinical groups. The level of TCC in milk from clinically normal glands exceeded levels of cells reported at a comparable time of lactation (Drendel, 1991), or 1-2 weeks earlier (Wegmann, 1985; Magnusson et al., 1991), while the level of PMNLs in milk from clinically normal glands corresponded fairly well with those reported by Magnusson et al. (1991). There might be several explanations of the elevated TCC in the present studies. The increase in TCC and PMNLs in milk from clinically abnormal teats and glands compared with milk from clinically normal glands might reflect an inflammatory response caused by a temporary bacterial invasion of the mammary tissue. The successive increase in the ungentle sucking habit performed by the growing piglets might also have contributed to the elevated TCC in milk from clinically normal glands at the time of weaning. It has been suggested (Lee et al., 1983; Magnusson et al., 1991) that the increase in both the number and percentage of epithelial cells recorded during the lactation is caused by the aggressive sucking behaviour of the growing piglets. As has been hypothesised previously, this sucking behaviour might also have been of considerable importance in the etiology of the teat injuries. In a broader sense, the observed increase in TCC might to some extent reflect an initial cessation in milk production, although the percentage of PMNLs recorded did not tend to increase, as has been previously shown concomitantly with discontinued sucking (Wegmann, 1985) or during the first days after weaning (Lee et al., 1983). The TCC and PMNLs showed a substantial numerical elevation in milk collected both from clinically normal and abnormal mammary glands within sows suffering from CGM (Paper V. Table 5). Obviously, the increase in TCC and PMNLs in milk from abnormal mammary glands reflected the presence of an inflammatory process, while the increase in cell parameters in milk from clinically normal mammary glands, might be speculated to be explained by influences from severe inflammatory processes in glands (CGM) within the same udder. More information is certainly needed about the average cell content in milk from clinically normal mammary glands at the time of weaning.

Conclusions

The following conclusions were drawn from 3 studies, (1) the influence of two feeding regimes, restricted versus standard, during the final 2 weeks of gestation on the clinical health status and performance of sows, with special reference to APP and udder health during the first 3 weeks of lactation and (2) the udder health of sows at time of weaning and 7 days after weaning with special focus on teat injuries and palpable changes of the mammary tissue and (3) chronic granulomatous mastitis (CGM) in sows.

- The occurrence of APP was significantly lower in the restricted fed (14.4%) than in the standard fed sows (26.6%). Irrespective of feeding regimes, APP sows revealed a significant increase in rectal temperature already one day before parturition and delivered a significantly higher number of stillborn piglets per litter (0.4), indicating an establishment of the disease already before parturition.
- The mean of the TCC values below the threshold of 10x10⁶ cells/ml in bacteriafree colostrum (day 1) and milk collected from clinically healthy sows increased significantly from day 1 to day 3 (1.23x10⁶ vs 1.86x10⁶) and thereafter decreased gradually to day 22. The percentage of PMNLs decreased significantly from day 1 to day 3 (58.5% vs 49.0%), and thereafter remained on levels between 42% and 50%. Neither of the two feeding regimes influenced the TCC, the PMNLs or the pH in bacteria-free milk from clinically healthy sows.
- Bacteriological examinations of colostrum and milk from APP sows or from clinically healthy sows, yielded growth of *E. coli* from one or several mammary glands in approximately 80% and 30% of the lactations, respectively. The growth of *E. coli* declined until day 3 and was finally eliminated between days 3 and 8. Healthy sows with *E. coli* were designated as being subclinically infected. *E. coli* in pure cultures with a concomitant TCC exceeding $10x10^6$ cells/ml already on the first day of sampling occurred in 64% of the APP sows and in 16% of the clinically healthy sows. The TCC and PMNLs tended to be significantly higher in subclinical *E. coli* infected glands than in clinical *E. coli* infected glands (APP sows) $(157x10^6 \text{ vs } 82x10^6 \text{ and } 79.0\% \text{ vs } 65.8\%$, respectively). This might indicate a higher recruitment of cells to the subclinical *E. coli* infected glands.
- The TCC in bacteriologically negative colostrum was significantly higher in APP sows, than in clinically or subclinically *E. coli* infected sows, possibly being a result of a transient hypogalactic condition in milk production in APP sows. In contrast, the percentage of PMNLs was significantly higher in colostrum from clinically healthy sows than in the clinical or subclinical *E. coli*

infected sows. This might indicate that PMNLs have been redistributed to glands where they are required in the elimination of the pathogens.

- In sows with clinical or subclinical *E. coli* mastitis, only 38 (44%) of 87 *E. coli* mastitic glands (TCC> $10x10^6$ cells/ml) were revealed of the clinical examination. This indicates that clinical examination of the mammary glands post partum must be combined with bacteriological and cytological analyses of colostrum and milk before any further interpretations are made.
- The teat- and udder skin injuries were numerically more frequent within the two thoracic and first three abdominal teat pairs, varying from 11% to 16%. A large number of mammary glands were in full milk production. Presumably, there is a link between the vigorous sucking behaviour of the piglets and the origin of the injuries. The clinical appearance of the teat injuries subsided and at re-examination 7 days after weaning, 76% of the investigated teats were scored as normal.
- The prevalence of palpable changes at weaning increased gradually from the first to the second and subsequent lactations (15%, 30% and 60%). The observations might indicate a negative impact on the udder health with increasing lactation number.
- Bacteriological examination of milk from clinically normal and abnormal glands and teats at weaning yielded growth of non- as well as α- and β- haemolytic streptococci. The β- haemolytic streptococci were more frequently isolated from abnormal glands and teats. A limited number of secretion samples obtained 7 days after weaning yielded growth of staphylococci and A. pyogenes.
- A cytological comparison of milk from clinically normal and abnormal mammary glands and teats revealed almost significantly or significantly increased levels of TCC and PMNLs in the milk from abnormal glands and teats. The increase in TCC and PMNLs in milk from these glands reflect a defence reaction caused by a temporary bacterial invasion of the mammary glands.
- Chronic granulomatous mastitis is the ultimate and most severe consequence of infectious mastitis at time of weaning. Ten sows out of 11, that had been clinically examined before slaughter, were histopathologically confirmed with the diagnosis of CGM after slaughter.
- The bacterial flora isolated from mammary gland tissue affected by CGM, and often not possible to sample for milk, comprised A. pyogenes, F. necrophorum, S. aureus, P. anaerobicus, P. granulosum and Prevotella spp.

• Bacteriological examination of mammary tissue from an additional 3 sows affected with CGM demonstrated that other *Actinomyces* spp. (Actinomyces - EF Group 78, CCUG 37626), might also be of great importance in the etiology of the CGM. The growth of the *Actinomyces* spp. might be promoted by the other bacterial flora isolated. A potential linkage might exist between vigorously sucking piglets causing teat- and udder skin injuries and the transmission of these bacteria.

References

- Allen, A.D. & J.F. Lasley, 1960: Milk production of sows. J. Anim. Sci. 19, 150-155.
- Armstrong, C.H., B.E. Hopper & C.E. Martin, 1968: Microflora associated with agalactia syndrome of sows. Am. J. vet. Res. 29, 1401-1407.
- Awad-Masalmeh, M., W. Baumgartner, W. Passernig, R. Silber & F. Hinterdorfer, 1990: Bakteriologische Untersuchungen bei an puerperaler Mastitis (MMA-Syndrom) erkrankten Sauen verschiedener Tierbestände Österreichs. Tierärztl. Umsch. **45**, 526-535.
- Berger, P., 1969: Die Gesäugeaktinomykose des Schweines. Eine kritische Stellungnahme. Inaugural-Dissertation, München.
- Bertschinger, H.U., J. Pohlenz & I. Hemlep, 1977: Untersuchungen über das Mastitis-Metritis-Agalaktie-Syndrom (Milchfieber) der Sau. II. Bakteriologische Befunde bei Spontanfällen. Schweizer Arch. Tierheilk. 119, 223-233.
- Bertschinger, H.U., E. Bürgi, V. Eng & P. Wegmann, 1990: Senkung der Inzidenz von Puerperaler Mastitis bei der Sau durch Schutz des Gesäuges vor Verschmutzung. Schweizer Arch. Tierheilk. 132, 557-566.
- Bertschinger, H.U. & J. Pohlenz, 1992: Coliform mastitis. In: Leman, A.D., B.E. Straw, W.L. Mengeling, S. D'Allaire & D.J. Taylor (ed.): Diseases of Swine. 7th Ed., Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa, USA, pp 511-517.
- Bollwahn, W. & D. Meermeier, 1989: Häufigkeit und Diagnostik chronischer Gesäugeveränderungen bei Zuchtsauen (Schlachtbefunde). Berl. Münch. tierärztl. Wschr. 102, 223-227.
- Brolund, L., 1985: Cell counts in bovine milk. Causes of variation and applicability for diagnosis of subclinical mastitis. Dissertation, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden. Acta vet. scand. Suppl. 80, 1-123.
- Bäckström, L., 1973: Environment and animal health in piglet production. A field study of incidences and correlations. Acta vet. scand. Suppl. 41, 1-240.
- Bäckström, L., A.C. Morkoc, J. Connor, R. Larson, & W. Price, 1984: Clinical study of mastitis-metritis-agalactia in sows in Illinois. J. Am. vet. med. Ass. 185, 70-73.
- Delgado, J.A. & J.E.T. Jones, 1981: An abattoir survey of mammary gland lesions in sows with special reference to the bacterial flora of mammary abscesses. Br. vet. J. 137, 639-643.
- Dellmeier, G.R. & T. H. Friend, 1991: Behaviour and extensive management of domestic sows (*Sus scrofa*) and litters. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 29, 327-341.
- de Ruijter, K., J.H.M. Verheijden, A. Pijpers & J. Berends, 1988. The role of endotoxin in pathogenesis of coliform mastitis in sows. Vet. Q. 10, 186-190.
- Done, S.H., 1975: Observations on an outbreak of *Klebsiella* mastitis in sows. Acta vet. hung. 25, 211-215.
- Done, J.T., 1980: Teat deficiencies in pigs. The Veterinary Annual 20th issue, 246-254.
- Drendel, C., 1991: Das Lysozym als Bestandteil der biologischen Abwehr der Sauenmilchdrüse. Inaugural-Dissertation, Berlin.
- Eberhart, R.J., R.P. Natzke, F.H.S. Newbould, B. Nonnecke & P. Thompson, 1979: Coliform mastitis - a review. J. Dairy Sci. 62, 1-22.
- Eberhart, R.J., 1984: Coliform mastitis. Vet. Clin. N. Am. Large Animal Practice 6, 287-300.
- Edwards, S.A. & L. Lightfoot, 1986: The effect of floor type in farrowing pens on pig injury. II. Leg and teat damage of sows. Br. vet. J. 142:5, 441-445.
- Ehrlich, C., 1912: Beitrag zur Ätiologie der chronischen eitrig-granulösen Krankheitsprozesse im Gesäuge der Schweine (Aktinomykose). Inaugural-Dissertation, Borna-Leipzig.
- Eich, K.-O., 1984: Håndbog i svinesygdomme, pp. 154-157.

- Ellendorff, F. & D. Poulain, 1984: A means to assess nursing efficiency in the pig: The study of the milk ejection reflex. Annls Rech. vét 15, 271-274.
- Elmore, R.G., C.E. Martin, J.L. Riley & T. Littledike, 1979: Body temperatures of farrowing swine. J. Am. vet. med. Ass. 174, 620-622.
- Elmore, R.G. & C.E. Martin, 1986: Mammary glands. In: Leman A.D., B. Straw, R.D. Glock, W.L. Mengeling, R.H.C. Penny & E. Scholl (ed.): Diseases of Swine, 6th edition. The Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa, U.S.A., pp 168-183.
- Emanuelson, U. & E. Persson, 1984: Studies on somatic cell counts in milk from Swedish dairy cows. I. Non-genetic causes of variation in monthly test-day results. Acta agric. scand. 34, 33-44.
- Englert, H.K., H. Bauer & F. Göbel, 1956: Neue Gesichtspunkte über Vorkommen, Ursachen und Behandlung der Gesäugeaktinomykose bei Mutterschweinen. Tierärztl. Umsch. 11, 42-44.
- Englert, H.K., 1961: Gesäugeaktinomykose beim Schwein. Dt. tierärztl. Wschr. 68, 110-113.
- Engvall, A. & O. Schwan, 1983: Isolation and partial characterisation of bacteria recovered from abscesses of normally slaughtered pigs. Acta vet. scand. 24, 74-83.
- Evans, P.A., T.J. Newby, C.R. Stokes & F.J. Bourne, 1982: A study of cells in the mammary secretions of sows. Vet. Immun. Immunopath. 3, 515-527.
- Franke, F., 1973a: Die mikrobiologische Diagnostik der Gesäugeaktinomykose des Schweines. Berl. Münch. tierärztl. Wschr. 86, 428-432.
- Franke, F., 1973b: Untersuchungen zur Ätiologie der Gesäugeaktinomykose des Schweines. Zbl. Bakt. Hyg. I. Abt. Orig. A 223, 111-124.
- Fraser, D., 1975: The 'teat order' of suckling pigs. II. Fighting during suckling and the effects of clipping the eye teeth. J. agric. Sci., Camb. 84, 393-399.
- Fraser, D., 1980: A review of the behavioural mechanism of milk ejection of the domestic pig. Appl. Anim. Ethol. 6, 247-255.
- Fraser, D., 1990: Behavioural perspectives on piglet survival. J. Reprod. Fert. Suppl. 40 355-370.
- Fraser, D. & B.K. Thompson, 1991: Armed sibling rivalry among suckling piglets. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 29, 9-15.
- Gonneratne, A.D., P.E. Hartmann & H.M. Nottage, 1982: The initiation of lactation in sows and the mastitis-metritis-agalactia syndrome. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 5, 135-140.
- Göransson, L., 1989a: The effect of dietary crude fibre content on the frequency of post partum agalactia in the sow. J. Vet. Med. A 36, 474-479.
- Göransson, L., 1989b: The effect of feed allowance in late pregnancy on the occurrence of agalactia post partum in sow. J. Vet. Med A 36, 505-513.
- Göransson, L., 1990a: The effect on late pregnancy feed allowance on the composition of the sow's colostrum and milk. Acta vet. scand. **31**, 109-115.
- Göransson, L., 1990b: The effect of protein source in late pregnancy feed on the occurrence of agalactia post partum in the sow. Acta. vet. scand. 31, 117-120.
- Hartsock, T.G. & H.B. Graves, 1976: Neonatal behaviour and nutrition-related mortality in domestic swine. J. Anim. Sci. 42, 235-241.
- Hendrix, W.F., K.W. Kelly, C.T. Gaskins & R.B. Bendel, 1978: Changes in respiratory rate and rectal temperature of swine near parturition. J. Anim. Sci. 47, 188-191.
- Hermansson, I., S. Einarsson, K. Larsson & L. Bäckström, 1978a: On the agalactia post partum in the sow. A clinical study. Nord. Vet.-Med. 30, 465-473.
- Hermansson, I., S. Einarsson, L. Ekman & K. Larsson, 1978b: On the agalactia post partum in the sow. A hematological and blood chemical study in affected and healthy sows. Nord. Vet.-Med. 30, 474-481.
- Hill, A.W., A.L. Shears & K.G. Hibbitt, 1979: The pathogenesis of experimental *Escherichia coli* mastitis in newly calved dairy cows. Res. vet. Sci. 26, 97-101.

- Ho, F.C.S., L.C.R. Wong & J.W.M Lawton, 1979: Human colostral and breast milk cells. Acta paediatr. scand. 68, 389-396.
- Hultén, F., N. Lundeheim, A.-M. Dalin & S. Einarsson, 1995: A field study on group housing of lactating sows with special reference to sow health at weaning. Acta vet. scand. 36, 201-212.
- Hurley, W.L. & R.C.J. Grieve, 1988: Total and differential cell counts and N-acetyl-β-D-Glucosaminidase activity in sow milk during lactation. Vet. Res. Comm. 12, 149-153.
- Hutter, S., 1993: Untersuchungen über die Auswirkungen verschiedener Methoden der Zahnresektion beim Ferkel. Inaugural-Dissertation, München.
- Jones, J.E.T., 1980: Observations on the bacterial flora of abscesses in pigs. Br. vet. J. 136, 343-348.
- Jonsson, L., 1995: Livslängd och utgångsorsak hos hybridproducenternas renrasiga gyltor och suggor. Examensarbete nr. 172. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Jorsal, S.E., 1983: Morbiditet hos søer. Epidemiologiske undersøgelser i intensive sobesaetninger, med saerligt henblik på farefebersyndromet. Licentiatafhandling, Institut for intern medicin, Den kgl. Veterinaer- og Landbohøjskole, København, 1-118.
- King, G.J., R.A. Willoughby & R.R. Hacker, 1972: Fluctuations in rectal temperature of swine at parturition. Can. vet. J. 13, 72-74.
- Klastrup, O. & P. Schmidt Madsen, 1974: Nordiske rekommendationer vedrørende mastitisundersøgelser af kirtelprøver. Nord. Vet.-Med. 26, 197-204.
- Lake, S.G. & J.E.T. Jones, 1970: Post-parturient disease in sows associated with *Klebsiella* infection. Vet. Rec., 484-485.
- Lee, C.S., F.B.P. Wooding & P. Kemp, 1980: Identification, properties, and differential counts of cell populations using electron microscopy of dry cows secretions, colostrum and milk from normal cows. J. Dairy Res. 47, 39-50.
- Lee, C.S., I. McCauley & P.E. Hartman, 1983: Light and electron microscopy of cells in pig colostrum, milk and involution secretion. Acta anat. 117, 270-280.
- Lingaas, F. & K. Rønningen, 1991: Epidemiological and genetical studies in Norwegian pig herds. II. Overall disease incidence and seasonal variation. Acta vet. scand. 32, 89-96.
- Ludwig, W., G. Kirchof, M. Weizenegger & N. Weiss, 1992: Phylogenetic evidence for the transfer of *Eubacterium suis* to the genus *Actinomyces* as *Actinomyces suis* comb. nov. Int. J. syst. Bact. **42**, 161-165.
- Löfstedt, J., J.A. Roth, R.F. Ross & W.C. Wagner, 1983: Depression of polymorphonuclear leukocyte function associated with experimentally induced *Escherichia coli* mastitis in sows. Am J. vet. Res. 44, 1224-1228.
- Magnusson, H., 1928: The commonest forms of actinomycosis in domestic animals and their etiology. Acta path. microbiol. scand. 5, 170-245.
- Magnusson, U., H. Rodriguez-Martinez & S. Einarsson, 1991: A simple rapid method for differential cell counts in porcine mammary secretions. Vet. Rec. 129, 485-490.
- Martin, C.E., B.E. Hooper, C.H. Armstrong & H.E. Amstutz, 1967: A clinical and pathologic study of the mastitis-metritis-agalactia syndrome of sows. J. Am. vet. med. Ass. 151, 1629-1634.
- McCracken, A. & W.J. McCaughey, 1973: A survey of abscesses in bacon weight pigs. Br. vet. J. **129**, 359-361.
- Meermeier, D., 1987: Mastitis- und Thelitisfrequenz bei geschlachteten Zuchtsauen. Inaugural-Dissertation, Hannover.
- Middleton-Williams, D.M., J. Pohlenz, G. Lott-Stolz & H.U. Bertschinger, 1977: Untersuchungen über das Mastitis-Metritis-Agalaktie-Syndrom (Milchfieber) der sau. I. Pathologische Befunde bei Spontanfällen. Schweizer Arch. Tierheilk. **119**, 213-222.

- Morkoc, A., L. Bäckström, L. Lund & A.R. Smith, 1983: Bacterial endotoxin in blood of dysgalactic sows in relation to microbial status of uterus, milk and intestine. J. Am. vet. med. Ass. 183, 786-789.
- Møller Jensen, H., 1981: Forebyggelse af farefeber (MMA) komplekset ved reduktion af foderet til den draegtige so de sidste 3 uger før faring. Dansk VetTidsskr 64, 659-662.
- Nachreiner, R.F., O.J. Ginther, W.E. Ribelin & I.H. Carlson, 1971: Pathologic and endocrinologic changes associated with porcine agalactia. Am. J. vet. Res. 32, 1065-1075.
- Nachreiner, R.F., M.C. Garcia & O.J. Ginther, 1972: Clinical, hematologic and blood chemical changes in swine given endotoxin (*Escherichia coli*) during the immediate postpartum period. Am. J. vet. Res. 33, 2489-2499.
- Nachreiner, R.F. & O.J. Ginther, 1974: Induction of agalactia by administration of endotoxin (*Escerichia coli*) in swine. Am. J. vet. Res. 35, 619-622.
- Neil, M., 1996: Effects of ad libitum feeding in lactation and the timing of its introduction on sow performance. Dissertation 237, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Newberry, R.C. & D.G.M. Wood-Gush, 1985: The suckling behaviour of domestic pigs in a semi-natural environment. Behaviour 95:1/2, 11-25.
- Oomi, H., R. Azuma, H. Ishiwata, T. Asahara, T. Watanabe & S. Murakami, 1994: Bacteriological study on another pathogenic agent 'Actinomyces suis' Grässer 1957 in swine tonsils. Proceed. 13th. Inter. Pig Vet. Soc. Cong. Bangkok, Thailand, 233.
- Patchimasiri, T., B. Chanprasert, S. Shigemi & R. Azuma, 1994: Immunopathological and histopathological studies on '*Actinomyces suis*' in swine tonsils. Proceed. 13th. Inter. Pig Vet. Soc. Cong. Bangkok, Thailand, 234.
- Pedersen Mörner, A., A. Faris & K. Krovacek, 1997: Virulence determinants of *Escherichia coli* isolated from milk of agalactic sows. Submitted for publication.
- Pierskalla, St., J. Schröder, H.-W. Fuchs, K. Nattermann, K. Wendt & F.-R. Noack, 1990: Zur sogenannten Gesäugeaktinomykose der Sau. Mh. Vet.-Med. 45, 378-381.
- Plonait, H.R., 1961. Über den P_H-Wert der Sauenmilch, seine Änderungen im Verlauf physiologischer und gestörter Laktation sowie deren klinische Bedeutung. Inaugural-Dissertation, Hannover.
- Prescott, S.C. & R.S. Breed, 1910: The determination of the number of body cells in milk by a direct method. J. infect. Dis. 7, 632-640.
- Renk, W., 1962: Gesäugeaktinomykose des Schweines. Berl. Münch. tierärztl. Wschr. 75, 301-304.
- Ringarp, N., 1960: Clinical and experimental investigations into a post-parturient syndrome with agalactia in sows. Acta agric. scand. Suppl. 7, 1-166.
- Ross, R.F., B.J. Zimmermann, W.C. Wagner & D.F. Cox, 1975: A field study of coliform mastitis in sows. J. Am. vet. med. Ass. 167, 231-235.
- Ross, R.F., A.P. Orning, R.D. Woods, B.J. Zimmermann, D.F. Cox & D.L. Harris, 1981: Bacteriologic study of sow agalactia. Am. J. vet. Res. 42, 949-955.
- Salomé Rahm, H. Geyer & D. Neuburger, 1984: Histologische und histochemische Untersuchungen zur Involution der Schweinemilchdrüse. Zbl. Vet. Med. A 31, 776-791.
- Sandstedt, H. & H. Carlquist, 1952: Förebyggande försök gentemot agalakti hos sugga. Nord. Vet.-Med., 513-517.
- Sandstedt, H., 1953: Agalakti hos sugga. Svensk VetTidn, 103-105.
- Sandstedt, H., U. Sjögren & O. Swahn, 1979: Förebyggande åtgärder mot MMA (agalakti) hos sugga. Svensk VetTidn **31**, 193-196.
- Sandstedt, H. & U. Sjögren, 1982: Förebyggande åtgärder vid hög frekvens av MMA i suggbesättningar. Svensk VetTidn 34, 487-490.
- SAS[®] Institute Inc., 1989: SAS/STAT User's Guide, Version 6, Fourth Edition, Volume 1-2, Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc., USA.

- Schollenberger, A., A. Degorski, T. Frymus & Ada Schollenberger, 1986: Cells of sow mammary secretions. I. Morphology and differential counts during lactation. J.Vet. Med. A 33, 31-38.
- Schultz, J., W. Graupner & M. Henrichs, 1977: Strukturelle Veränderungen des Milchdrüsengewebes bei der Sau während der Laktation. Ein Beitrag zum vergleichenden Studium von Involutionsvorgängen in der Milchdrüse. Monatshefte Veterinaermed 32, 214-218.
- Schummer, A., H. Wilkens, B. Vollmerhaus & K.-H. Habermehl, 1981: The anatomy of the domestic animals, Vol. 3, pp. 469-475, 498-500.
- Simonsson, A., 1993: Ny utfodringsnorm för suggor. Husdjur, No. 12, Information from Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Smith, B.B. & W.C. Wagner, 1984: Suppression of prolactin in pigs by *Escherichia coli* endotoxin. Nature 224, 605-607.
- Smith, B.B. & W.C. Wagner, 1985: Effect of *Escherichia coli* endotoxin and thyrotropin-releasing hormone on prolactin in lactating sows. Am. J. vet. Res. 46, 175-180.
- Smith, B.B., G. Martineau & A. Bisaillon, 1992: Mammary glands and lactation problems. In: Leman, A.D., B.E. Straw, W.L. Mengeling, S. D'Allaire & D.J. Taylor (ed.): Diseases of Swine. 7th Ed., Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa, USA, pp 40-61.
- Striegel, D. & J. Kunesh, 1974: MMA A clinical review. Iowa St. Univ. Vet. No. 2, 71-75.
- Subcommittee on screening tests, United States National Mastitis Council, 1968: Direct microscopic somatic cell count in milk. J. Milk Fd Technol. **31**, 350-354.
- Svendsen, J., N.C. Nielsen, N. Bille & H.-J. Riising, 1975: Causes of culling and death in sows. Nord. Vet.-Med. 27, 604-615.
- Svendsen, J., A.-Ch. Bengtsson & G. Gustafsson, 1984: Comparative studies on the incidence of disease among suckling piglets maintained in farrowing pens with different manure handling systems. Agricultural Wastes 10, 61-74.
- Threlfall, W.R., H.E. Dale & C.E. Martin, 1974: Serum and adenohypophyseal concentrations of prolactin in sows affected with agalactia. Am. J. vet. Res. 35, 313-315.
- Thurman, J.C. & J. Simon, 1970: A field study of twelve sows affected with the MMA syndrome. Veterinary Medicine, 263-272.
- Wagner, W.C., 1982: Mastitis-metritis-agalactia. Vet. Clin. N. Am. Large Animal Practice 4, 333-341.
- Weber, J.A. & F.G. Fergusson, 1982: Analysis of the cellular components of swine colostrum and milk. Proceed. 7th. Inter. Pig Vet. Soc. Cong. Mexico City, Mexico, 169.
- Wegmann, P., 1985: Zur Pathogenese der Colimastitis beim Mutterschwein. Inaugural-Dissertation, Zürich.
- Yamini, B. & R.F. Slocombe, 1988: Porcine abortion caused by Actinomyces suis. Vet. Path. 25, 323-324.

Personal communication

Vet. Christina Kugelberg & Urban Sjögren, Swedish Animal Health Service, Farmek-Scan, 581 92 Linköping, Sweden.

Acknowledgements

The studies in this thesis were carried out at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden. Other co-operators belonging to the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences were the Department of Pathology, the Department of Veterinary Microbiology (Section of Bacteriology) and the Department of Animal Nutrition and Management (The Pig Research Station of Funbo-Lövsta). Support was also obtained from the Mastitis Laboratory, National Veterinary Institute, Uppsala, Sweden.

Financial support was provided by the Swedish Council for Forestry and Agricultural Research, Stiftelsen Svensk Svinforskning and from the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to all who have contributed to this work over all these years, but especially to the following:

Professor Stig Einarsson, Head of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, my major scientific advisor, who introduced me into research. He offered continuous, never-failing encouragement and support throughout the work. I appreciate his competent advice and constructive criticism. Stig - it has been a privilege to work under your professional guidance!

Professor Göran Åström, Head of the Ambulatory Clinic, my assistant scientific advisor, whose friendship and encouragement continuously supported me through all these years. Your constructive criticism based on impressive knowledge has been invaluable on countless occasions.

Dr. Anne Pedersen Mörner, my co-worker and good friend, for pleasant cooperation in a friendly atmosphere and whose enthusiasm for the bacteria -*Eschericha coli* - will never, never fade away.

I am indebted to all my colleagues, past and present, at the Ambulatory Clinic. The working atmosphere has always been stimulating, and thank you for taking care of the pigs while I finished my thesis.

Associate Professor Ulf Magnusson, my friend and one of my co-workers in research concerning the interesting but intricate syndrome of agalactia in sows, for showing support, enthusiasm and a constant fighting spirit.

To all other colleagues and employees at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology; you are to many to name individually, but I greatly appreciate the way you have continuously supported and encouraged me to proceed with and finish my studies.

Dr. Ingrid Österlundh, now in the beginning of her career as a researcher in the area of sow mammary gland immunology. Good luck Ingrid !

Dr. Wladyslaw Kuhl, my former advisor in statistics, who kindly supported me during the first study.

Dr. Nils Lundeheim, my present advisor in statistics, who always had time for my questions, supported me when I struggled with the statistics and successfully got me to believe that I understood the analyses performed.

Dr. Leif Göransson, my co-worker in the nutritional study of sows, who contributed with excellent information concerning sow and litter performances in our study.

Catharina Falkenberg, to whom I would express a thousand thanks, for showing such endurance with all the laboratory work through the long period of 4 years when the milk samples were streaming into the laboratory, but also for providing me with drawings before the computerised era.

Professor Sigvard Thomke and **Dr. Jan Håkansson** for their great interest in the field of interactions between nutrition and the well-being of the farrowing sow, and also for placing the facilities at the Pig Research Station of Funbo-Lövsta at our disposal for many years.

Dr. Erika Karlstam, my co-worker, who in a professional and ambitious way made all the excellent histopathological examinations.

Professor Lennart Jönsson and **Dr. Inger Haraldsson**, for interest and support when interpreting results from histopathological examinations of specimens from the mammary tissue.

Professor Olof Holmberg, Drs. Carlos Choncha and **Lolita Nilsson**, Mastitis Laboratory, for always supporting me and giving professional answers to all my questions.

Associate Professor Per Jonsson, Department of Microbiology (Section of Bacteriology) for co-operation during various phases of the research.

Dr. Eva Olsson-Engvall, for helping me with the way bacteriologists express their knowledge in writing.

Dr. Anders Gunnarsson and Gull Holmström, National Veterinary Institute, for having introduced and guided me into the partially anonymous world of *Actinomyces*.

Annika Rikberg, Karin Selin-Wretling and Åsa Jönsson at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Boel Brännström and Ingela Tillander at the Department of Microbiology (Section of Bacteriology) and Ulla Hammarström at the Department of Pathology for skilful and excellent technical contributions to the studies.

I am much obliged to Drs. Lena Eliasson-Selling, Urban Sjögren, Christina Kugelberg and Gunnar Johansson, and also to all veterinarians in the Swedish Animal Health Service for your continuous support and encouragement, fruitful discussions and collaborations.

Drs. Marianne Jensen-Waern, Claes Fellström, Magdalena Jacobsson and Christina Swedberg, Department of Medicine and Surgery, for interesting and fruitful co-operation over many years.

Drs. Allan Simonsson and Ulf Emanuelson, for having time with my questions in swine production and statistics, respectively.

All the staff of the stable at the Pig Research Station of Funbo-Lövsta, who with a true sense of responsibility took care of the animals and always supported us when we examined and milked the sows.

To all other staff members of the Pig Research Station of Funbo-Lövsta but especially to Drs. Kjell Andersson, Maria Neil, Pekka Nyström, Eva Ringmar-Cederberg, Lotta Rydhmer and Susanne Stern for support and fruitful discussions in the research area covering management and diseases of the pig.

Birgitta Berner and **Marie Sundberg**, for always providing me with secretarial help. Special thanks to **Birgitta** for helping me with the final preparation of this thesis.

The "computer-doctor" Kjell-Åke Ahlin for assisting me although he often was short of time. The unlikely "computer-freak" Tom Björk, for being of invaluable support when my computer got out of control.

Johnny Carlsson, indefatigably providing excellent librarian service.

Nigel Rollison, for rapid and excellent linguistic revision of this work.

All FARMERS in the Veterinary District of Uppsala and in particular the PIG-FARMERS, who always have been of great support and where I, as a veterinarian together with my students, have had the privilege to serve you and implement our knowledge and ideas. I am especially obliged to Anders and Sten Persson, Rune Pettersson, Kristina and Torsten Ördhe, the owners of the 3 herds who placed the sows at my disposal during 1994.

Maria, my wife and my children *Martin* and *Kristina*, for being the best part of my life $|\Psi|$

To my parents, Uno and Eira, with respect and gratitude, for introducing me to animal husbandry in common and pig production in particular and for having patiently taught me the hard work involved in farming.

With respect and appreciation to all the sows, without whose contribution this study would never been brought to its conclusion.

"I like pigs. Dogs look up to us. Cats look down on us. Pigs treat us as equals". Sir Winston Churchill (1874-1965)

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae

presents doctoral theses from the faculty of agriculture, landscape architecture and horticulture, the faculty of forestry and the faculty of veterinary medicine at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Each faculty has its own subseries, Agraria, Silvestria and Veterinaria, respectively, with separate numbering.

ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-5241-4

